Aus der Kinderklinik und Kinderpoliklinik im Dr. von Haunerschen Kinderspital, Klinik der Ludwig-Maximilian-Universität München Vorstand: Prof. Dr. Dr. C. Klein

Novel models to study protein trafficking in rare genetic defects of severe congenital neutropenia



Dissertation

zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

> vorgelegt von Michael Raum aus München 2020

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität München

Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. med. Dr. sci. nat. C. Klein	
Mitberichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. S. Schneider-Pils Priv,-Doz. Dr. T. Herold	
Mitbetreuung durch den promovierten Mitarbeiter:		
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. med. dent. Reinhard Hickel	
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:	29.10.2020	

Novel models to study protein trafficking in rare genetic defects of severe congenital neutropenia

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Raum, Michael

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation mit dem Thema

Novel models to study protein trafficking in rare genetic defects of severe congenital neutropenia

selbständig verfasst, mich außer der angegebenen keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen habe.

Ich erkläre des Weiteren, dass die hier vorgelegte Dissertation nicht in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form bei einer anderen Stelle zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht wurde.

München, den 02.11.2020 Ort, Datum Michael Raum Unterschrift Doktorand

Table of contents

	/
1. Zusammenfassung	9
1. Abstract	10
2. Introduction	11
2.1. Neutrophil granulocytes	11
2.1.1. Origin and maturation of neutrophil granulocytes	11
2.1.2. Function of neutrophil granulocytes	11
2.2. Rare genetic diseases of neutrophils as model system for cell biology	19
2.2.1. Disorders of neutrophil chemotaxis	19
2.2.2. Disorders of neutrophil killing	20
2.2.3. Disorders of neutrophil granules	20
2.2.4. Disorders of neutrophil quantity	21
2.3. Cell biology of vesicular trafficking	29
2.3.1. Early secretory pathway	29
2.3.2. Sorting at the Trans Golgi Network	32
2.3.3. Regulated secretory pathway in neutrophil granulocytes	33
2.4. JAGN1 deficiency as a model to study cellular trafficking	36
3. Aim of this thesis	38
4. Material and methods	20
4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39
4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry 4.2. CRISPR/Cas9 knock-out cell lines	39 39 39
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry 4.2. CRISPR/Cas9 knock-out cell lines 4.3. Retention using selective hooks-system 	39 39 39 42
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry 4.2. CRISPR/Cas9 knock-out cell lines 4.3. Retention using selective hooks-system 4.4. Statistics 	39 39 39 42 45
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 39 42 42 45
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 42 45 46 cvtes
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 42 45 46 cytes
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 42 45 46 cytes 51
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 39 42 45 46 cytes 51 53
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 42 45 46 cytes 51 53
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 39 42 45 46 cytes 51 53 57
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 39 42 45 46 cytes 51 53 57
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 39 42 45 46 cytes 51 53 57 57 57
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 39 42 45 46 cytes 51 53 57 57 60 61
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 39 42 45 46 cytes 51 53 57 57 60 61 63
 4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry	39 39 39 42 45 46 cytes 51 53 57 60 61 63 76

List of abbreviations

AP ₃ B ₁	adaptor protein 3 complex
AD	autosomal dominant
AD-HIES	autosomal dominant Hyper IgE syndrome
AIN	autoimmune neutropenia
AmpR	ampicillin resistance gene
AR	autosomal recessive
BEN	benign ethnic neutropenia
BPI	bactericidal-increasing protein
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CGD	chronic granulomatous disease
CHS	Chediak-Higashi syndrome
CIN	chronic idiopathic neutropenia
CMV	human cytomegalovirus
СОРІ	coat protein complex I
COPII	coat protein complex II
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eeagle's medium
EGFP	enhanced green fluorescent protein
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERGIC	ER-Golgi-intermediate compartment
FCS	foetal calf serum
G-CSF	granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
G6PD	glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase
HeLa	human cervical epitheloid carcinoma
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
HSCT	hematopoietic stem cell transplantation
ICAM	intercellular adhesion molecule
iPSc	induced pluripotent stem cells
IRES	internal ribosomal entry site
JAGN1	jagunal homolog 1
КО	knockout
LAD	leukocyte adhesion deficiency
LyzC	lysozyme C
M6P	mannose 6-phosphte
MACı	macrophage-1 antigen
MCS	multiple cloning site
Mmp	matrix metalloprotease

MPO	myeloperoxidase
MPR	mannose 6-phosphte receptor
MS	mass spectrometry
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NE	neutrophil elastase
NETs	neutrophil extracellular traps
ori	replication origin
PBS	phosphate buffered salin
PFA	paraformaldehyde
PMA	phorbol myristate acetate
RUSH	retention using selective hooks
SBP	streptavidin-binding protein
SCN	severe congenital neutropenia
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SGD	neutrophil-specific granule deficiency
TBS	tris-buffered saline
ТЕ	trypsin EDTA
TGN	trans-Golgi network
VPS13B	vacuolar protein sorting 13 homolog B
WAS	Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome
WT	wild type
XL	X-linked

1. Zusammenfassung

Mutationen im Gen *JAGN1*, das für das Protein jagunal homolog 1 (JAGN1) kodiert, verursachen eine schwere kongenitale Neutropenie (SCN). Patienten mit SCN leiden an lebensbedrohlichen Infektionen und weisen ein erhöhtes Leukämierisiko auf. Neutrophile Granulozyten von Patienten mit Mutationen in *JAGN1* zeigen einen Mangel an Granula, eine abnormale N-Glykosilierung von Proteinen und einen Sekretionsdefekt. Das Protein JAGN1 ist im endoplasmatischen Retikulum lokalisiert und ist durch seine Interaktion mit dem COPI-Komplex vermutlich an der Protein-Sekretion beteiligt. Die exakte Rolle von JAGN1 wurde bis heute nicht geklärt.

In dieser Arbeit wird die Rolle von JAGN1 beim Transport von Proteinen analysiert. Zuerst wurden Proteine identifiziert, die in Abwesenheit von JAGN1 unterschiedlich sezerniert werden. Dafür wurden von induzierten, pluripotenten Stammzellen (iPSc), die in vitro in bona fide neutrophile Granulozyten differenziert wurden, mittels Massenspektrometrie die Sekretome von Kontrollen und JAGN1-defizienten Zellen bestimmt. Anschließend wurde ein *JAGN1*-Knock-Out (KO) in HeLa-Zellen durchgeführt, um den intrazellulären Proteintransport zu untersuchen. Zur Visualisierung der Kinetik der Proteinsekretion verwendeten wir das Retention-Using-Selective-Hooks-System. Als Reporter dafür haben wir das Granulaprotein Lysozym C ausgewählt.

Wir konnten zeigen, dass lysosomale Hydrolasen und Granulaproteine, wie Myeloperoxidase oder Cathepsin D, in von *JAGN1*-KO iPSc abgeleiteten neutrophilen Zellen im Vergleich zu Kontrollklonen signifikant (p<0,05) häufiger sezerniert wurden. Interessanterweise waren in den *JAGN1*-KO-Klonen Histone signifikant (p<0,05) weniger im zellulären Überstand vorhanden, was möglicherweise mit einer gestörten NETosis (ein spezieller Mechanismus neutrophiler Granulozyten zur Freisetzung von Chromatin-Netzen) von JAGN1-defizienten Neutrophilen zusammenhängt. Der CRISPR/Cas9-vermittelte KO in HeLa-Zellen wurde effizient durchgeführt und durch Gelelektrophorese und Sequenzierung bestätigt. Darüber hinaus war die Sekretion des Proteins Lysozym C in HeLa JAGN1-defizienten Zellen im Vergleich zu HeLa-Kontrollzellen nach 40 Minuten (p<0,01) und 60 Minuten (p<0,05) signifikant verzögert.

Es konnte hiermit das erste Mal gezeigt werden, dass JAGN1 zu einem spezifischen Sekretionsdefekt in neutrophilen Granulozyten führt. JAGN1 beeinflusst die Kinetik der Sekretion von Lysozym C. Diese Beziehung zwischen Mutationen in *JAGN1* und dem Proteintransport eröffnet neue Wege zum besseren Verständnis von Krankheiten neutrophiler Granulozyten, wie der SCN.

1. Abstract

Mutations in the gene *JAGN1* encoding for the protein jagunal homolog 1 (JAGN1) cause severe congenital neutropenia (SCN). Patients with SCN suffer from life-threatening infections and have a predisposition to develop leukaemia. Neutrophil granulocytes from patients with mutations in *JAGN1* exhibit a paucity of granules, aberrant N-glycosylation of proteins and a secretion defect. The protein JAGN1 is located in the endoplasmic reticulum and is assumed to be involved in the secretory pathway by its interaction with the coat protein I complex (COP1). However, the detailed mechanism of action of how *JAGN1* participates in the secretory pathway has not been explained so far.

In this thesis, the role of JAGN1 in protein trafficking was analysed in greater detail. First, it was aimed to identify proteins that are differently secreted in the absence of JAGN1. To this end, differences in secreted proteins in *JAGN1* knockout induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSc) derived neutrophil-like cells were analysed using mass-spectrometry. Then, a *JAGN1* knockout (KO) in HeLa cells was performed to study intracellular protein trafficking. To monitor the kinetics of protein secretion the retention-using-selective hooks system was used. As a reporter the granule protein lysozyme C was chosen.

It was observed that lysosomal hydrolases and granule proteins, such as myeloperoxidase or cathepsin D were significantly (p<0.05) more secreted in JAGN1-deficient iPSc-derived neutrophil granulocytes compared to control clones. Interestingly, histones were significantly (p<0.05) less secreted in the *JAGN1* KO clones, which possibly is related to less efficient NETosis of JAGN1-deficient neutrophils. Additional studies in newly generated CRISPR/Cas9 mediated KO in HeLa cells showed that the secretion of the granule protein lysozyme C was significantly delayed compared to HeLa control cells after 40 minutes (p<0.01) and 60 minutes (p<0.05).

In summary, secretion of specific granule proteins, lysosomal hydrolases and histones is impaired in the absence of JAGN1. Thus JAGN1-deficiency is associated with a specific secretion defect. JAGN1 also influences the kinetics of the secretion of lysozyme C. These results provide new insights into functional defects of neutrophil granulocytes in SCN and may open new horizons for studies aiming to decipher the molecular machinery orchestrating protein trafficking.

2. Introduction

2.1. Neutrophil granulocytes

Neutrophil granulocytes are the most abundant white blood cells in the circulation. Representing approximately 50–70% of circulating leukocytes in humans (Mestas and Hughes 2004). The nucleus of mature neutrophils is segmented and their cytoplasm is enriched with granules and secretory vesicles. Neutrophils play a major role in host defence of the innate immune system (Borregaard 2010).

2.1.1. Origin and maturation of neutrophil granulocytes

Maturation of neutrophils takes place in the bone marrow where they are continuously generated from myeloid precursors. During this process of maturation, committed precursors of neutrophil granulocytes pass through several stages, namely myeloblast, promyelocyte, myelocyte, metamyelocyte, and band cell before they become polymorphonuclear (segmented) cells. The daily amount of neutrophil production in the bone marrow can culminate in up to 2 x 10¹¹ cells (Borregaard 2010). The differentiation of neutrophils is controlled by transcription factors such as CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein α – ζ and PU.1 (Nerlov and Graf 1998, Dahl, Walsh et al. 2003). Granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) is a critical cytokine driving granulocyte development, in particular in stress hematopoiesis (Lieschke, Grail et al. 1994). G-CSF production is regulated by an interaction of regulatory T cells, macrophages and dendritic cells involving several interleukins (e.g. IL-17A, IL-23) (Ley, Smith et al. 2006, Kolaczkowska and Kubes 2013). Peripheral neutrophils have a lifespan of approximately 5 days in circulation (Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012).

2.1.2. Function of neutrophil granulocytes

Neutrophil granulocytes play a major role in the innate immune system and are essential to defend against bacterial and fungal pathogens (Kolaczkowska and Kubes 2013). To fulfil their function in host defence and returning tissue to a sterile state neutrophils can eliminate pathogens by various ways such as phagocytosis, release of granule proteins or release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (figure 1) (Borregaard and Cowland 1997, Brinkmann and Zychlinsky 2007, Khandagale, Lazzaretto et al. 2018).

Neutrophil recruitement

The recruitement of neutrophils to the site of infection is efficiently orchestrated in several steps: tethering, rolling, adhesion, crawling and transmigration (Kolaczkowska and Kubes 2013).

Initially tissue-resident leukocytes release inflammatory mediators, when they come into contact with pathogens. This triggers subtile changes in surface adhesion molecules on endothelial cells at the site of infection (Ley, Laudanna et al. 2007, Phillipson and Kubes 2011, Sadik, Kim et al. 2011). This activation of the endothelium can also be stimulated directly by pattern-recognition receptor-mediated detection of pathogens. It cumulates to an increased expression of adhesion molecules such as P-selectin and E-selectin (Ley, Laudanna et al. 2007, Petri, Phillipson et al. 2008). These two selectins maximize neutrophil recruitment by binding to their glyocosylated ligands, leading to tethering and rolling of neutrophils to the surface of endothelium (Ley, Laudanna et al. 2007, Zarbock, Ley et al. 2011). Because of the high shear stress in the vascular system, the formation and breakage of adhesive bonds is highly dynamic during the rolling of neutrophils (Ramachandran, Williams et al. 2004, Sundd, Pospieszalska et al. 2011, Sundd, Gutierrez et al. 2012).

The rolling of neutrophils enhances more intense exposure to activatin factors such as tumour necrosis factor- α and IL-1 β and chemokines (such as IL-8) on the endothelial cells bearing activation of neutrophils (Summers, Rankin et al. 2010, Sadik, Kim et al. 2011, Sanz and Kubes 2012).

Chemokines are positively chareged molecules, which are bound to negatively charged heparan sulfates on the endothelium (Massena, Christoffersson et al. 2010). The sequestration of these chemokines formates an intravascular chemotactic gradient. The G-protein-coupled chemokine receptors on the surface of neutrophils are activated by chemokines and consequently lead to changes in the conformation of cell surface-expressed integrins, such as lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 and macrophage-1 antigen (MAC1). After their conformational change these integrins bind to endothelial adhesion molecules, such as intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)1 and ICAM2 (Phillipson, Heit et al. 2006), inducing signaling pathways inside the neutrophil for adhesion and cell motility (Cicchetti, Allen et al. 2002, Ley, Laudanna et al. 2007).

After the firm adhesion of neutrophils to the endothelial cells, mature neutrophils must leave the blood circulation and transmigrate into the tissue. Therefor, neutrophils use endothelial cell–cell junctions, to which they actively crawl. Crawling is described in firmly adherent neutrophils as scanning the endothelial surface for the shortes distance to an endothelial junction. Neutrophils elongate perpendicularly und use their pseudopods in this process which is depending on the interaction of ICAM1 with neutrophil-expressed MAC1 (Phillipson, Heit et al. 2006). The transmigration of neutrophils describes how neutrophils cross the endothelium and the basement membrane to reach the infected tissue (Ley, Laudanna et al. 2007). For this purpose neutrophils can cross the barrier either paracellularly or transcellularly. There is evidence that the paracellulary way is prefered by neutrophils due to its higher efficiency (Phillipson, Heit et al. 2006, Petri, Phillipson et al. 2008, Phillipson, Kaur et al. 2008, Woodfin, Voisin et al. 2011). The paracellular transmigration is a highly complex process which includes the release of junctional intercellular bonds between the endothelial cells, conformational changes of the cytoskeleton and rearrangement of the attachment to the extracellular matrix (Parsons, Sharma et al. 2012). Finaly, the neutrphils emigrate through the basement membrane using proteases such as matrix metalloproteinases (Mmps) or serine proteases (Kolaczkowska, Grzybek et al. 2009).

After the neutrophils have passed the endothelial barrier a subluminal chemokine gradient guides them to the infected tissue. Chemoattractand molecules, such as bacteriaderived N-formyl-methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine or the complement component C5a (Foxman, Campbell et al. 1997) lead to the directional migration of neutrophils to the point of infection. It has been shown that chemotaxis is orchestrated by a several intracellular signalling pathways, including phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signalling (Funamoto, Meili et al. 2002) and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (Heit, Robbins et al. 2008).

Phagocytosis

The major mechanism to remove pathogens, phagocytosis, was discovered by Elie Metchnikoff in the 19th century (Klein 2016). During phagocytosis the pathogen is internalized by the cell membrane into a vacuole, called the phagosome. The internalization depends on the interaction between the neutrophil and the pathogen mediated through recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns by pattern-recognition receptors, or opsonin mediated (Underhill and Ozinsky 2002). After encapsulation of the pathogens, preformed granules fuse with the phagosome to add antimicrobial molecules, such as cathepsins, lysozyme and defensins. Additionally nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase-dependent production of reactive oxygen species generates an acid and consequently toxic milieu for the pathogen (Lee, Harrison et al. 2003, Borregaard 2010, Hager, Cowland et al. 2010) (Kolaczkowska and Kubes 2013). Some pathogens like *Staphylococcus aureus, Helicobacter pylori, Francisella tularensis* and others bear strategies to survive inside neutrophils through interfering with engulfment, changing phagosome maturation or creating a more convenient intraphagosomal environment (Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012).



Figure 1: Killing mechanisms of neutrophils. Neutrophils have several strategies to kill pathogens including phagocytosis, release of antimicrobial granule proteins or release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (from Kolaczkowska E. et al., Nature Reviews Immunology, 2013).

Granules and secretory vesicles

In neutrophils a special storage organelle has been evolved: the granule. Neutrophils carry granules that are essential for their ability to fulfil their major role in innate immunity. Granules are packed with antimicrobial proteins. When these proteins are released to the phagosome (intracellular) or across the cell membrane (extracellular), they contribute to the killing of pathogens.

Even if neutrophil granules are highly heterogeneous regarding their content, they are traditionally classified into three types of granules (table 1): azurophilic (primary), specific (secondary) and gelatinase granules (tertiary).

Granules appear during the transition from the myeloblast stage of differentiation to the promyelocyte stage and continue to be formed until the segmented stage of the neutrophil (Borregaard 2010, Hager, Cowland et al. 2010, Galli, Borregaard et al. 2011, Kolaczkowska and Kubes 2013). It is not clear whether mature neutrophils maintain a capacity to produce granules, but most mRNAs for granule proteins are absent from peripheral neutrophils (Cowland and Borregaard 1999). It is also still not clear why different subtypes of granules exist. Cowland et al. hypothesized that some of the proteins can not exist together in one granule (Cowland and Borregaard 2016).

Due to their staining with the basic dye azure A in histological preparations granules were originally classified into peroxidase-positive (azurophilic) and peroxidase-negative (specific) granules (Bainton, Ullyot et al. 1971). Azurophilic granules (primary granules) are defined by the presence of myeloperoxidase (MPO), which is not found in other granules. Furthermore, only azurophilic granules contain the protease azurocidin, (Faurschou, Sorensen et al. 2002). Apart from MPO and azurocidin, proteins like serine proteases, proteinase 3, cathepsin G, neutrophil elastase (NE), neutrophil serine protease 4, defensins, bactericidal-increasing protein (BPI) and lysozyme are major cargos of primary granules (Ganz, Selsted et al. 1985, Pereira, Shafer et al. 1990, Perera, Wiesmuller et al. 2013, Cowland and Borregaard 2016). Primary granules are the largest granules (o.3 μ M diameter) that can be visualized in neutrophils (Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012).

Traditionally the peroxidase-negative granules are subdivided into secondary and tertiary granules. The secondary granules are also called specific granules and are smaller than primary granules, measuring approximately 0.1 μ M in diameter. Secondary granules contain lactoferrin, lysozyme, pentraxin 3 and others. Cytochrome b558, that is crucial for the initiation of the NADPH oxidase machinery is also content of this subtype (Ramadass and Catz 2016).

The most important protein in tertiary granules (also called gelatinase granules) is Mmp 9 (also known as gelatinase B), which helps degrading the matrix during the process of neutrophil recruitment. Even though ultrastructure and more recently biochemical evidence provided a framework to categorize subset of granuloes in neutrophil granulocytes, there is an ongoing debate on the best classification of granules (Kjeldsen, Bainton et al. 1993, Borregaard 2010, Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012, Cowland and Borregaard 2016).

In addition ot primary, secondary and tertiary granules, neutrophils also carry a fourth set of membranous structures: the secretory vesicles. In contrast to granules, secretory vesicles do not bud from the Golgi apparatus, but are generated by endocytosis during the final stages of neutrophil maturation (Borregaard, Sorensen et al. 2007). Accordingly, secretory vesicles contain predominantly plasma-derived proteins such as albumin. Proteins required for cell adhesion and migration, like β_2 integrins, are rapidly transported to the cell surface of neutrophils (Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012).

The granules are an essential reservoir in the killing mechanisms of pathogens (Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012, Ramadass and Catz 2016). Antimicrobial proteins can be classified into three different types: a) cationic peptides and proteins that attach to microbial membranes, b) proteins that deprive microorganisms of essential nutrients and c) proteins with catalytic function (enzymes). Brogden and colleagues listed over 800 peptides that have antimicrobial functions. Most peptides are charged to facilitate their

primary interaction with microbial membranes. These peptides are thought to punch pores into the membrane or to disturb essential mechanisms such as replication or metabolism (Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012).

Tuble II Heattophil Branales.			
Primary Granules	Secondary Granules	Tertiary Granules	
(azurophilic)	(specific)	(gelatinase)	
Lysozyme	Lysozyme	Lysozyme	
Myeloperoxidase	Lactoferrin	Gelatinase	
Elastse	Collagenase	Arginase-1	
BPI	Pentraxin 3		
Defensins	Defensin		

Table 1: Neutrophil granules.

Main differences in the content of the three subtypes of neutrophil granules. BPI: bactericidal-increasing protein (adapted from Amulic, 2012).

The second class of neutrophil antimicrobials acts by withdrawing nutrients from microbes, e.g. by chelating essential metals. Lactoferrin and calprotectin are examples for this mode of action (Weinberg 1975). Another method to fight against microbes is to use proteolytic enzymes such as neutrophil elastase (NE), cathepsin G, BPI or lysozyme. Lysozyme is one of the major enzymes to destroy the wall of pathogens. It has been shown that lysozyme is essential in the host defence in mice and rats (Markart, Korfhagen et al. 2004, Bu, Wang et al. 2006, Nash, Ballard et al. 2006). Lysozyme is generated throughout granulopoiesis from promyelocytes to band cells and is found in all classes of granules (Cowland and Borregaard 2016).

All these proteins are released from neutrophil granules into the extracellular milieu or into phagosomes.

Although there is accumulated evidence about the antimicrobial function of these proteins it is still challenging to clarify how all these factors interact *in vivo* to fulfil their combined role in host defence.

The degranulation of neutrophil granules is assumed to be triggered in different stages during the activation of neutrophils. The different subtypes of granules are mobilized in a hierarchical manner. Secretory vesicles seem to have the fastest kinetics followed by tertiary, specific granules and azurophilic granules.

Secretory vesicles are mobilized through selectins and chemokines during various steps of chemotaxis. Fusion of the secretory vesicles with the plasma membrane exposes key

factors (such as β_2 integrins) to the surrounding environment for further activation of the neutrophils. Firm adhesion, mediated by β_2 integrin mediated signaling, is followed by further activation to initiate the migration through the endothelium. Therefore, specific granules are mobilized to expose their enzymes such as Mmp 9 to degrade the extracellular matrix and helping neutrophils to traverse the basement membrane. The entire activation of neutrophils is provoked at the inflammatory site and leads to mobilization of azurophilic and specific granules to release their antimicrobial content to the phagosome or to the environment. The degranulation of all these granules eventually results in a highly toxic environment for the invading pathogens (Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012).

Neutrophil extracellular traps

In addition to phagocytosis and granule proteins, neutrophil granulocytes exhibit a third mechanism to eliminate pathogens, the neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). The NETs are a composition of uncondensed chromatin combined with histones and proteins. Enzymes, such as cathepsins and MPO, are released from neutrophil granules and attach to the core DNA. The fibrous NETs are spilled out over pathogens, when neutrophil granulocytes undergo an active form of cell death, so called NETosis (Brinkmann, Reichard et al. 2004, Brinkmann and Zychlinsky 2007, Fuchs, Abed et al. 2007). Recently however, the idea has been proposed that NETosis may not always be associated with cell death (Yipp, Petri et al. 2012).

The NETs not only support other killing strategies for pathogens through immobilization of the microorganisms, but also kill directly pathogens by antimicrobial histones and proteases (Hirsch 1958, Park, Yi et al. 2000, Kolaczkowska and Kubes 2013). Recent evidence emerges that NETosis is not only involved in intensifying the immune responses but also in inducing the coagulation system (Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012, Sollberger, Tilley et al. 2018).

The pathways that lead to NETosis are not completely understood but studies indicate that the reactive oxygen pathway is involved, as the pharmacological agent, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA), which is a potent activator of the NADPH oxidase, can induce NET formation (Fuchs, Abed et al. 2007, Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012, Metzler, Goosmann et al. 2014). Additional evidence suggests that MPO and NE are also necessary in NET formation (Papayannopoulos, Metzler et al. 2010, Metzler, Fuchs et al. 2011). A recent study also highlights the role of jagunal homolog (JAGN1) for fungal killing with NETs (Khandagale, Lazzaretto et al. 2018).

Hence, neutrophils are well equipped with a complex machinery for host defence that can be also toxic also for healthy tissue. It is obvious that defects in neutrophils can easily disturb the balancing act between killing of invading pathogens and non-pathogenic conditions, such as autoimmune diseases (Thieblemont, Wright et al. 2016).

2.2. Rare genetic diseases of neutrophils as model system for cell biology

Conceptually, genetic disorders of neutrophils can be subclassified into four (partially overlapping) groups: a) disorders affecting neutrophil migration and chemotaxis, b) disorders affecting neutrophil granules, c) disorders affecting neutrophil killing and d), disorders associated with defective neutrophil differentiation. The focus will be on the last group, especially on severe congenital neutropenia (SCN).

2.2.1. Disorders of neutrophil chemotaxis

Disorders regarding neutrophil chemotaxis comprise three subtypes of leukocyte adhesion deficiency (LAD) and the autosomal dominant Hyper IgE syndrome (AD-HIES).

LAD-I is a syndrome with an autosomal recessive mode of inheritance that results from defects in CD18, the common β chain of the β_2 integrin family. Clinical manifestations include early onset of bacterial infections of soft tissue, poor wound healing, periodontal disease, omphalitis, and neutrophilia (increased numbers of neutrophil granulocytes in the peripheral blood).

LAD-II also follows an autosomal recessive inheritance pattern and is caused by mutations in the guanosine diphosphate fucose transporter gene (*SLC*₃₅*C*₁) resulting in aberrant fucosylation of the neutrophil surface that impairs the rolling of neutrophils. Individuals suffering from LAD-II present with an increased susceptibility of infections, intellectual disability, abnormal facies, microcephaly, and cortical atrophy as well as the rare Bombay blood phenotype.

The third subtype of LAD (LAD-III, equally autosomal recessive) results from from mutations in *FERMT*₃. The corresponding protein, named kindlin ₃, is an adaptor that binds the integrin cytoplasmic tail to activate integrin-mediated signaling. The clinical phenotype resembles that of mild LAD-I. In contrast to LAD-I, the major source of morbidity is increased bleeding severity due to impaired platelet aggregation.

Likewise, monoallelic mutations in STAT₃ which are associated with Hyper-IgE-syndrome lead to a defect in neutrophil chemotaxis. The syndrome is a multi-system disorder including elevated serum levels of IgE, recurrent pulmonary and cutaneous bacterial and fungal infections, pneumatoceles, dermatitis, and skeletal as well as dental abnormalities. In addition to impaired chemotaxis of neutrophils numerous other immune-defects, such as loss in production of Th₁₇ cells, are observed (Leiding 2017).

2.2.2. Disorders of neutrophil killing

Chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) resulting from functional defects in the NADPH oxidase, a protein complex comprised of five subunits. Thus, killing of microbes is directly affected in these patients. Children before the age five suffer from recurrent infections in the lungs, on the skin, in lymph nodes and in the liver. Of note, the clinical phenotype is not restricted to immunodeficiency but also involves dysregulation of inflammatory response, resulting in granuloma formation and inflammatory bowel disease. Five genes, each affecting a subunit of the NADPH oxidase system, have been linked to CGD: CYBA, NCF1, NCF2, NCF4 and CYBB. The prevalence of CGD is approximately 1:200,000 (Winkelstein, Marino et al. 2000) and the inheritence of CGD is AR, besides the most common mutations in CYBB, which have been described as X-linked (Leiding 2017). Some subunits of the NADPH oxidase system are membrane bound (gpq1^{phox} and p22^{phox}) and others are located in the cytoplasm(p47^{phox}, p67^{phox}, and p40^{phox}). Not before intracellular ingestion of microbes, the components in the different compartements come together in an oxidative burst leading to activation of the NADPH oxidase. Consequently superoxide is produced and directly kills the microbes (Leiding and Holland 1993). In patients suffering from CGD the reduced superoxide production can be directly measured using the dihydrorhodamine assay (Kuhns, Alvord et al. 2010).

Similar symptoms as in CGD have been described in some patients with mutations in glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD). This enzyme participates in a shunt pathway in forming NADPH. The major symptom of patients with G6PD deficiency is red cell haemolysis resulting from oxidative stress.

MPO deficiency also affects the neutrophil killing because of mutations in the gene, encoding for MPO. Although it has been shown, that neutrophil killing was impaired in vitro, patients with MPO deficiency present with no specific clinical symptoms (Leiding 2017) and therefore MPO deficiency has been eliminated from the list of primary immunodeficiency diseases (Picard, Bobby Gaspar et al. 2018).

2.2.3. Disorders of neutrophil granules

While there is certainly an overlap to defects of differentiation, at least two rare genetic diseases are primarily characterized by a defect of neutrophil granules: Chediak–Higashi syndrome (CHS) and specific granule deficiency.

CHS is a complex syndrome, inherited in an autosomal recessive mode, that associates (partial) albinism, central neurologic symptoms and progressive white matter changes,

increased bleeding tendency and immunodeficiency with a high risk of bacterial infections. The defects, mostly caused by mutations in the gene *LYST*, lead to disturbances in granule morphogenesis, such as giant azurophilic granules with delayed and insufficient degranulation. The giant granules are derived from azurophilic granules (Kjeldsen, Calafat et al. 1998). Also the platelets show aberrant morphology. Complications in CHS patients include the lymphoproliferative infiltration of the bone marrow and other reticuloendothelial system organs (Karim, Suzuki et al. 2002, Schaffer and Klein 2007).

Neutrophil-specific granule deficiency (SGD) is a rare AR disorder that affects the terminal differentiation of neutrophial granulocytes and lactoferrin production (Lomax, Gallin et al. 1989). As a consequently, specific granules are scarce, and occasionally patients present with neutropenia. Bilobed nuclei can be seen in peripheral blood smears. The disease is caused by biallelic mutations in *CEBPE*, encoding the transcription factor CCAT/enhancer binding protein ε (Gombart and Koeffler 2002). Patients with SGD have a higher risk to severe invasive pyogenic infections and present mostly in the first few years with severe infections. Impaired disaggregation and low bactericidal activity also affects chemotaxis of neutrophils in SGD patients (Leiding 2017).

2.2.4. Disorders of neutrophil quantity

Neutropenia is defined as a condition with a reduction in the absolute number of neutrophils circulating in the blood below $1500/\mu$ l. The neutropenia is said to be severe with absolute neutrophil count below $500/\mu$ l. An exception of these defined lower limits are the first weeks of life, during which the absolute number of peripheral neutrophils physiologically increased. In the first 72 h neutrophils are elevated and then gradually decrease. Consequently, neutropenia in newborns is defined with an ANC of $2500/\mu$ l (Schmutz, Henry et al. 2008).

It is known that the absolute neutrophil count (ANC) fluctuates under physiological und pathological conditions. Therefore, it is obligatory to determine the ANC in several samples (minimum 3) over a 3-month period. Permanent neutropenia is diagnosed when all samples show an ANC below 1500/ μ l. Intermittent neutropenia is determined when normal levels of neutrophils alternate with neutropenia (Donadieu, Beaupain et al. 2017).

2.2.4.1. Chronic neutropenia

Neutropenia is defined to be chronic if it lasts more than 3 month. On a global scheme, the most common condition associated with low neutrophil counts is benign ethnic

neutropenia (BEN). In contrast to the diseases discussed later, BEN does not predispose to infections. BEN has been linked to a polymorphism in the gene encoding the Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines (Reich, Nalls et al. 2009, Klein 2011). The pathomechanism of this benign variant of congenital neutropenia is still not solved. Recently, Palmblad and Hoglund have proposed that the condition may be explained by an increased egress of granulocytes to the tissues (Palmblad and Hoglund 2018).

From a clinical point of view, another frequent cause of low neutrophil counts are acquired conditions, such as destruction of peripheral neutrophils by autoantibodies (AIN, autoimmune neutropenia). In particular in children, isolated AIN is a common and usually self-resolving condition (Afzal, Owlia et al. 2017) (Dale and Bolyard 2017).

2.2.4.2. Congenital neutropenia associated with syndromatic disorders

More than 400 monogenic diseases affecting the innate and adaptive immune system have been discovered in humans (Yu, Orange et al. 2018). Among them, many include transitory or constant reductions in the numbers of neutrophil granulocytes. While these disorders are not necessarily grouped as defects of neutrophil granulocytes, many have dysfunctional intracellular membrane-bound structures and therefore are briefly reviewed here.

Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome type 2, caused by mutations in the beta 1 subunit of the adaptor protein 3 complex (AP₃B₁), is a syndromic disorder including albinism, bleeding and pulmonary fibrosis and neutropenia (Dell'Angelica, Shotelersuk et al. 1999, Jung, Bohn et al. 2006, Vicary, Vergne et al. 2016). Most of the symptoms can be related to abnormalities in formation and trafficking of lysosome-related organelles. Benson and colleagues suggested that NE is a transported by the adaptor protein 3 complex (Schaffer and Klein 2007). A related disorder, caused by a mutation in the gene AP_3D_1 , has been described that destabilizes the adaptor protein 3 complex. In this case neurological symptoms and impaired hearing were also clinical manifestations (Ammann, Schulz et al. 2016).

Griscelli syndrome type 2 is caused by mutations in the gene *RAB27A* (Jung, Bohn et al. 2006). The syndrome is characterized by albinism, thrombocytopenia and neutropenia. As cytotoxic lymphocytes are also defect, the susceptibility to infections is high for these patients (Klein, Philippe et al. 1994, Schaffer and Klein 2007). RAB27A is involved in the regulation of granule exocytosis (Ostrowski, Carmo et al. 2010, Matsunaga, Taoka et al. 2017), including the release of MPO in neutrophils (Munafo, Johnson et al. 2007).

p14/LAMTOR2 deficiency represents a related defect in intracellular trafficking and aberrant lysosomal organelles. Patients with LAMTOR2 deficiency suffer from a primary immunodeficiency, including oculocutaneous albinism, growth failure, and congenital neutropenia. Neutrophils exhibit abnormal elongated shape of azurophilic granules (Bohn, Allroth et al. 2007, Hauck and Klein 2013).

I Cohen syndrome is caused by biallelic mutations in the *gene vacuolar protein sorting 13 homolog B (VPS13B)*. This gene encodes for a *cis* Golgi membrane protein which is crucial for the integrity of the Golgi ribbon and is thought to be related to protein sorting and vesicular trafficking (Rodrigues, Fernandes et al. 2018). Mutations in *VPS13B* are associated with glycosylation defects. Characteristic clinical manifestations associate, intellectual disability and developmental delay, and craniofacial abnormalities, abnormal truncal fat distribution in teenage years, visual impairment and leukopenia, especially SCN (Seifert, Kuhnisch et al. 2011, Rodrigues, Fernandes et al. 2018).

Shwachman-Diamond syndrome is a rare syndrome that is characterized by exocrine pancreatic dysfunction, bone marrow failure and a predisposition to malignant transformation to MDS and leukaemia. 90 % of the patients carry mutations in the *SBDS* gene that encodes for a protein that is involved in ribosomal maturation. The vast majority of patients have either intermittent or persistent congenital neutropenia. (Donadieu, Fenneteau et al. 2012, Myers, Davies et al. 2013).

WHIM syndrome patients typically present with warts, hypogammaglobulinaemia, infections, and myelokathexis. The term "myelokathexis" describes the presence of senescent and apoptotic neutrophil granulocytes in the bone marrow, resulting from an inability of neutrophils to egress physiologically to the peripheral blood stream. Myelokathexis thus describes hyperplasia and accumulation of apoptotic neutrophils in the bone marrow whereas in the peripheral blood neutrophils are only present in reduced numbers. WHIM syndrome is a result of monoallelic gain of function mutations in the chemokine receptor CXCR4. These mutations cause constitutive activation of CXCR4-mediated signalling. It has been observed that delayed trafficking in the endocyte pathway may play a role in the pathogenesis of WHIM syndrome (McCormick, Segarra et al. 2009).

In a clinical perspective, the differential diagnoses of congenital neutropenia must also include a variety of additional diseases, such as methylmalonic aciduria, Pearson syndrome, Barth syndrome, Glycogen-storage disease Ib, Bruton agammaglobulinaemia, AK2 deficiency, STK4 deficiency, poikiloderma with neutropenia, Cartilage-hair hypoplasia, CD40L deficiency, GATA1 deficiency, large granular lymphocyte syndrome and some variants of severe combined immunodeficiency (Zeidler, Boxer et al. 2000, Hauck and Klein 2013). Whereas these defects will not be considered here in greater detail, I will now focus on severe congenital neutropenia (SCN).

2.2.4.3. Severe congenital neutropenia

SCN encompasses a heterogeneous group of rare diseases typically characterized by an an ANC below 0.5 G/l and the pathognomonic feature of myeloid maturation arrest in the bone marrow. The incidence proportion of SCN is estimated at 1 case per 2 000,000 persons (Skokowa and Welte 2007). For diagnosis, differential blood counts (at least 3 times within 3 months) should be repeatedly tested, indicating persistent ANC below this level. Furthermore, an evaluation of the bone marrow is recommended to visualize the characteristic early myeloid arrest at the promyelocyte or myelocyte stage (figure 2) including atypical nuclei and cytoplasmic vacuolization (figure 3). It is also recommended to perform molecular testing to define the genetic etiology of SCN (Klein 2011, Klein 2017).

Prior to the development of therapeutic strategies (first symptomatic antibiotic therapies, then the advent of recombinant human GCSF (Bonilla, Gillio et al. 1989) and finally definitive cures by allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (Zeidler, Welte et al. 2000), all patients died during the first years of life.



Figure 2: Myeloid maturation arrest in the bone marrow. Neutrophils from patients with severe congenital neutropenia typically stop the differentiation from the promyelocyte stage to the myelocyte stage (from Klein, C., Annu. Rev. Immunol. 2011).

Heterogeneity of SCN

Since the first description of inherited neutropenia as infantile genetic agranulocytosis by the Swedish paediatrician Rolf Kostmann in 1956 (Kostmann 1956), the list of monogenetic diseases causing congenital neutropenia has evolved, in particular over the last decade, numerous genetic defects have been discovered (table 2) (Schaffer and Klein 2007, Hauck and Klein 2013, Klein 2016).

The most common genetic etiology in European/North American patients are heterozygous mutations in *ELANE* (SCN1). *ELANE* encodes Neutrophil Elastase (NE), a specific protease that cleaves a large array of proteins, including enterobacterial virulence

factors. When *ELANE* is mutated neutrophil granulocytes undergo premature apoptosis (Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012, Klein 2016).

SCN₂, another subtype of SCN, is caused by monoallelic mutations in Growth-factorindependent 1 (*GFI*1), a transcription factor controlling hematopoiesis and in particular the differentiation of neutrophil granulocytes. In addition to granulopoiesis, defects in GFI1 affect also lymphoid and other myeloid cells. Patients with mutations in GFI1 can also suffer from osteoporosis (Klein 2011, Geissler, Textor et al. 2018), which is however also seen in many other genetic variants of SCN.



Figure 3: Representative bone marrow smear of patients suffering from sever congenital neutropenia. Visualization of the characteristic early myeloid arrest at the promyelocyte stage including atypical nuclei and cytoplasmic vacuolization (from Klein, C., Annu. Rev. Immunol. 2011).

SCN3 is caused by mutations in the gene *HAX1*, encoding for HCLS1 associated protein X-1. HAX1-deficiency has also been shown to be the underlying genetic cause in the patients originally described by Dr Kostmann. *HAX1* mutations are particularly frequent in Sweden and in Turkey. HAX1 is a mitochondrial protein and controls the mitochondrial membrane potential. HAX1-deficiency leads to a higher rate of apoptosis in neutrophil granulocytes but the detailed mechanism is still not elucidated (Klein, Grudzien et al. 2007, Klein 2017).

SCN4 is caused by defects in glucose-6-phosphate catalytic subunit 3 (G6PC3), a ubiquitously expressed paralog of glucose-6-phosphatase. In addition to congenital neutropenia, G6PC3 deficiency is characterized various congenital defects, such as cardiac and genital malformations, inner ear hearing loss, facial dysmorphism, increased visibility of superficial veins, myopathy, or endocrine abnormalities. There have also been reported disrupted bone remodelling and abnormalities in the integument (Gatti, Boztug et al. 2011, Boztug, Rosenberg et al. 2012, Banka, Wynn et al. 2013).

0	0 0	I
Disease	Gene	Mode of Inheritance
SCN1	ELANE	AD
SCN2	GFI1	AD
SCN ₃	HAX1	AR
SCN4	G6PC3	AR
XLN	WAS	XL
SCN5	VPS45A	AR
SCN6	JAGN1	AR
SCN7	CSF ₃ R	AR

Table 2: Monogenetic disorders causing severe congenital neutropenia

SCN: severe congenital neutropenia, AD: autosomal dominant; AR: autosomal recessive; XL: X-linked; adapted from Klein C. (Klein 2016).

Thierry Vilboux et al. characterized a new immunodeficiency syndrome involving congenital neutropenia in seven pedigrees in 2013 (Vilboux, Lev et al. 2013). In addition to neutropenia, patients had nephromegaly with extramedullary hematopoiesis and bone marrow fibrosis. The authors described homozygous mutations in VPS45, which encodes a protein that participates in the regulation of membrane trafficking via the endosomal system. In VPS45-deficient cells, the level of β_1 integrin cell surface expression and cellular motility is reduced. Several other patients have been reported (Meerschaut, Bordon et al. 2015, Shah, Munson et al. 2017). The exact role of VPS45 in orchestrating endosomal function is under active investigation.

Inherited loss-of-function mutations in *CSF*₃*R*, encoding the G-CSF receptor, have been defined as SCN type 7 (Triot, Jarvinen et al. 2014). Homozygous missense mutations leading to impaired N-glycosylation and aberrant localization of G-CSF-receptor have been reported. Not surprisingly, patients with inherited mutations in *CSF*₃ fail to respond to treatment with recombinant G-CSF (Triot, Jarvinen et al. 2014). Of note, this disease

must be differentiated from acquired somatic mutations in the G-CSF receptor gene, a frequent phenomenon preceding the onset of acute myeloid leukemia in SCN.

X-linked neutropenia (XLN) results from mutations in the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome (WAS) gene (Massaad, Ramesh et al. 2013). In contrast to loss of function mutation in WAS causing Wiskott Aldrich syndrome, XLN is caused by mutations in WAS that prevent auto-inhibitory conformations. Thus, XLN is associated with a constitutively active WAS allele.

Loss-of-function mutations in the gene *JAGN1*, encoding for the protein jagunal homolog 1 (JAGN1) are the cause of SCN7. Originally, nine distinct homozygous mutations were identified in 15 individuals suffering from SCN (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014, Baris, Karakoc-Aydiner et al. 2015, Cifaldi, Serafinelli et al. 2018). The protein JAGN1 is located in the endoplasmic reticulum and has four transmembrane domains. The N- and the C-terminus are located in the cytosol. The amino acid sequence of JAGN1 contains a dilysine motif (KKLI on position 37 to 41) that is a retention signal to the ER. The protein is 183 amino acids long; the molecular weight is 21,125 Daltons (Lee and Cooley 2007).

Lee et al. showed that JAGN1 is involved in ER clustering and loss of JAGN1 reduces vesicular traffic during vitellogenesis in Drosophila melanogaster (Lee and Cooley 2007). JAGN1-mutated neutrophil granulocytes exhibit ultra-structural ER-defects, a paucity of granules, aberrant N-glycosylation of several proteins, including the G-CSF receptor GSF3R. Similar to other genetic variants, JAGN1-deficiency is associated with an increased susceptibility to apoptosis in neutrophils (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014). Khandagale et al. reported that JAGN1 may be involved in formation of NETs. Neutrophils from a patient with homozygous *JAGN1* mutations were stimulated with PMA to induce NET formation. Whereas MPO expression was reduced in NETs, overall NET release was not affected. Killing of *Candida albicans* in NETs was dependent on JAGN1 expression (Khandagale, Lazzaretto et al. 2018).

Patients with mutated *JAGN1* are refractory to the treatment with G-CSF. This may be due to abnormal expression of CSF₃R on the cell surface. In conditional knockout mice in which expression of JAGN1 is delected in the hematopoietic system, the capacity of granulocytes to kill Candida albicans is impaired. Interestingly, treatment with GM-CSF could restore this defect in vitro and in vivo (Wirnsberger, Zwolanek et al. 2014).

Interestingly, in mice the pattern of N-glycosylation was severely perturbed in murine neutrophil granulocytes, including glycoproteins involved in cell adhesion and cytotoxicity (Wirnsberger, Zwolanek et al. 2014).

Symptoms of severe congenital neutropenia

Due to the lack of mature neutrophils in the peripheral bloodstream, individuals with SCN suffer from life-threatening infections, which can be fatal (Klein 2016, Donadieu, Beaupain et al. 2017, Khandagale, Lazzaretto et al. 2018). For example, patients have bacterial upper and lower respiratory tract infections, tonsillitis, skin abscesses, and otitis media. Gingivitis is very common. The lack of pus at sites of infections is a characteristic sign of SCN. SCN is a life-threatening disease, since patients are prone to develop sepsis at any time.

Investigations of the bone mineral density have revealed that SCN patients can develop osteopenia or osteoporosis that can lead to symptoms, such as bone pain and pathological fractures. It remains unclear how SCN can lead to osteopenia or osteoporosis. Some patients with SCN have reportedly developed vasculitis, including renal involvement. It is unclear whether this may have been triggered by recombinant G-CSF, as the symptoms abated in all patients after the therapy with G-CSF was temporary interrupted. Some patients developed splenomegaly upon treatment with G-CSF (Zeidler, Boxer et al. 2000).

The most severe complication of patients with SCN is the development of clonal hematopoietic disorders such as myelodysplasia or overt leukemia. In case leukemia evolves, it is usually a manifestation of acute myeloid leukaemia rather than acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Interestingly, the molecular make-up of these leukemias is quite distinct from leukemia in patients without underlying SCN.

It is not clear at this point, to what extent G-CSF therapy contributes to the onset of leukemia. Most likely, G-CSF is an additive factor on the basis of an underlying premalignant condition (Link 2018).

Regular haematological follow-ups including bone marrow evaluation are highly recommended to allow early discovery of leukemia. Once a clonal disorder is diagnosed, allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation must strongly be considered.

Therapy of severe congenital neutropenia

The treatment of patients suffering from SCN is based on antibiotics and on daily subcutaneous injections of recombinant G-CSF that has fundamentally improved the survival. Ca. 90 % of SCN patients respond to treatment with recombinant G-CSF with an ANC greater than 1.0 G/l. Partial responders achieving ANC levels of 0.5 to 1.0 G/l may still suffer from bacterial infections (Zeidler, Boxer et al. 2000). Therapeutically, ANC counts of more than 1.0 G/l are targeted. However, some patients are completely refractory, even to G-CSF therapy at very high doses (up to 100 microgram/kg/d). These paients are candidates to allo-HSCT.

Even if HSCT is a curative therapy, the procedure remains associated with morbidity and even mortality. In a recent study from Fioredda and colleagues, the transplant-related

mortality was 17 % (Fioredda, Iacobelli et al. 2015). 82 % of the transplanted patients survived after three years. Death occurred because of graft-versus-host disease, infection, and EBV post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease. Fully matched HLA donors can improve the outcome. If HSCT is successful, no further admission of G-CSF is necessary. Thus, selection of HSCT candidates in patients that do not respond to G-CSF should be undertaken (Fioredda, Iacobelli et al. 2015, Klein 2016).

In view of these inherent challenges, new therapeutic approaches are under research. A recent in vitro study from Pittermann and colleagues demonstrated that gene correction of neutrophils from SCN patients using CRISPR/Cas9 system is possibly a new therapeutic approach in the future (Pittermann, Lachmann et al. 2017). However, more preclinical studies are needed before these new methods can be clinically implemented in the therapy of SCN patients (Klein 2016).

Even though the list of the monogenetic disorders leading to severe neutropenia is constantly growing, the epistatic relationships of distinct genetic defects remain to be unravelled. Here, I propose that deficient protein trafficking could be an underlying theme. I focus on JAGN1 deficiency as a paradigmatic defect to she light on the mechanisms orchestrating differentiation and function of neutrophil granulocytes.

2.3. Cell biology of vesicular trafficking

Eukaryotic cells are highly organized with respect to compartimentalisation of cytoplasmic organelles. The communication is mediated by intracellular vesicular trafficking of molecules between these different intracellular compartments. Vesicular trafficking is of central importance for nutrient transport, organelle fusion and fission, receptor recycling and secretion. Thus, vesicular trafficking is crucial in maintaining the homeostasis of the cell (figure 4). Intracellular trafficking of molecules plays also a crucial role in cell-cell interaction. The interaction between cells is based on the secretion of proteins, such as antibodies, hormones, or extracellular proteases. To enable the secretion of proteins, specialized secretory pathways are necessary (Guo, Sirkis et al. 2014).

2.3.1. Early secretory pathway

The secretory pathway is a complex mechanism to transport the proteins in a correct amount to the destined cellular compartment or to the extracellular space. First, proteins are synthesized and folded in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Many of these proteins undergo post-translational modifications, such as glycosylation or phosphorylation. Proteins that are not ER resident are routed from the ER via the ER-Golgi-intermediate compartment (ERGIC) to the *cis* face of the Golgi apparatus. In the Golgi apparatus proteins are sorted – mainly at the trans-Golgi network (TGN) by specific sorting machineries. Then, they are packed into vesicles and routed to their final destinations, such as endosomal compartments, apical and basolateral membrane, and specialized compartments, such as granules in neutrophils (Guo, Sirkis et al. 2014).

The ER is part of the secretory pathway. Proteins that are resident in the ER are retained through a retention motif. This motif consists of four amino acids (KDEL for lumen located proteins and KKXX for transmembrane located proteins; K, Lys; D, Asp; E, Glu; L, Leu; X any amino acid) and functions as a cargo-motif binding site (Stornaiuolo, Lotti et al. 2003, Dodonova, Diestelkoetter-Bachert et al. 2015).

Proteins destined to be transported throughout the cell are marked with a signal peptide at the N-terminus. These proteins are designated for the secretory pathway (Owji, Nezafat et al. 2018).

Whereas initial glycosylation of proteins takes place in the ER, subsequent modifications of the glycan structures occurs in the Golgi apparatus. Interestingly, glycosylation of proteins is also involved in the secretory pathway. Most of the transmembrane proteins and secretory proteins are glycoproteins (Ohtsubo and Marth 2006). It has been shown that N-linked glycans play a major role in folding and quality control of newly synthesized glycoproteins. Only properly folded proteins are delivered from the ER to the Golgi apparatus. Galectins, proteins that bind to carbohydrate play a role in the regulation of apical sorting of cargo molecules that bear N-or O-glycans (Guo, Sirkis et al. 2014). It has also been shown that the lack of N-glycans could result in ER retention (Vagin, Kraut et al. 2009).

If proteins are not properly folded they are not transported from the ER to the next compartment. These unfolded proteins cause ER stress and the so called "unfolded protein response" (UPR). ER stress can be based on perturbations in calcium homeostasis, redox regulation, deprivation of glucose, viral infection, or increased synthesis of secretory proteins (Ma and Hendershot 2001, Kaufman, Scheuner et al. 2002).



Figure 4: Schematic depiction of the secretory pathway. After cotranslational insertion into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) lumen, correctly folded proteins are transported in COPII coated vesicles (blue ring) across the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) to the Golgi network (blue). After traversing the different Golgi cisternae, proteins are sorted at the trans Golgi Network (TGN) by complex sorting machineries in a broad variety of transport carriers. These vesicles deliver their cargo to their destined destinations including secretory granules (yellow), the apical and basolateral membrane (orange and purple) and the endosome (beige) (adapted from Tran, Mai Ly, Max-Planck-Institute of Biochemie, Martinsried).

The early secretory pathway combines the trafficking from the ER via the ERGIC to the Golgi apparatus, from the Golgi apparatus to the ER, and trafficking within the Golgi stacks. This pathway is mediated by the coat protein complexes I and II (COPI and COPII)

(Duden 2003). Proteins that are properly folded and glycosylated in the ER are packed into budding COPII vesicles at the ER exit sites to be transported to the ERGIC and consequently the Golgi apparatus (Kondylis, Tang et al. 2011). Proteins that are marked as ER resident but delivered to the Golgi apparatus are transported back from the Golgi apparatus to the ER via COPI (Duden 2003). The COPI complex has seven subunits (Dodonova, Diestelkoetter-Bachert et al. 2015) and provides different binding sites for the sorting cargo-motif KKXX of cargo proteins (Popoff, Adolf et al. 2011). The process to retain proteins in the ER or to deliver them back from the Golgi apparatus after they have escaped is essential for key cellular processes, such as protein quality control (Moon, Han et al. 2018).

Beside the function between the trafficking between the ER and the Golgi apparatus there are some reports that underline a role of COPI in endosomal transport and function, mRNA transport, involvement in the homeostasis of lipid droplet and the segmentation of the nuclear envelope (Popoff, Adolf et al. 2011).

Regarding its essential and various function, COPI dysfunction causes disease such as Alzheimer's disease (Bettayeb, Hooli et al. 2016), a craniofacial syndrome (Izumi, Brett et al. 2016) dilated cardiomyopathy (Hamada, Suzuki et al. 2004) or lung disease and arthirits (Watkin, Jessen et al. 2015).

2.3.2. Sorting at the Trans Golgi Network

Proteins that have correctly entered the Golgi apparatus at the *cis* face pass through the stacks and exit the complex at the TGN. The TGN is responsible for sorting and packing of proteins into specific constitutive secretory vesicles for the intracellular transport to their final destination (Guo, Sirkis et al. 2014).

Sorting and export of transmembrane cargoes and lysosomal hydrolases at the TGN are well understood. Kornfeld and colleagues (Kornfeld and Mellman 1989) described the first mechanism how acid hydrolases are sorted from the TGN to the endolysosomes: the mannose 6-phosphte (M6P) dependant sorting mechanism. Acid hydrolases are labelled by M6P moieties on their N-linked oligosaccharide chains. This labelling is recognized by the mannose 6-phosphte receptor (MPR), which is a type I integral membrane protein at the TGN. After binding of the receptor to the luminal hydrolases and adaptors, clathrin coats are recruited on the cytosolic part of the TGN membrane. The lysosomal hydrolases are being sent to late endosomes via early endosomes. The high pH of endosomes enhances release of lysosomal enzymes from MPR. Rab9, a retromer induces the recycling of MPR back from endosomes to the TGN (Braulke and Bonifacino 2009). There has been shown that MPR dysfunction leads to more secretion of lysosomal enzymes (Koster, Saftig et al. 1993, Ludwig, Ovitt et al. 1993).

Sorting mechanisms that are mannose 6-phosphate-independent (including the protein sortilin and lysosomal integral membrane protein type 2) have been reported (Reczek, Schwake et al. 2007, Canuel, Korkidakis et al. 2008, Braulke and Bonifacino 2009, Gonzalez, Valeiras et al. 2014), but molecular details remain to be investigated (Guo, Sirkis et al. 2014, Pakdel and von Blume 2018).

Very little is known about sorting of soluble proteins. Recently, a sorting machinery for soluble proteins at the TGN has been described (Blank and von Blume 2017). In HeLa cells the granule protein lysozyme C and other proteins are sorted and packed into vesicles by a sorting machinery including the cytoplasmic actin cytoskeleton, the protein cofilin, the soluble TGN-resident protein Cab45, and the TGN calcium pump SPCA1. The sphingomyelin lipid metabolism has been added to this complex sorting machinery at the TGN (Deng, Pakdel et al. 2018). The complexity of the secretory pathway, including the relevance of kinetics of vesicular transport between the compartments, poses a remarkable challenge for cell biology research.

2.3.3. Regulated secretory pathway in neutrophil granulocytes

The complex mechanism of sorting proteins at the TGN is especially important to professional secretory cells, such as pancreatic cells, neuronal cells or neutrophil granulocytes. In contrast to cells that perform secretion in a constitutive manner, professional secretory cells need additionally a regulated secretory pathway to secrete proteins in a stimulus-dependent manner. Proteins that are designated to storage granules are sorted in parallel to the consecutive secretion at the TGN. It remains unclear how this separation between the consecutive and the regulated secretory pathway is mediated (Guo, Sirkis et al. 2014).

Especially in neutrophils, very little is known about the mechanism how proteins, which are designated to neutrophil granules, are routed away from the consecutive secretory pathway (Cowland and Borregaard 2016). However, neutrophils are unique in their diversity of granules that need to be filled with proteins and mobilized in an accurate and timely manner to fulfil their function in host defence and beyond. Granule-specific trafficking is a highly dynamic process and has to be regulated in a strict technique to achieve the balance between host defence and tissue damage (Ramadass and Catz 2016).

Bulow and colleagues investigated MPO sorting in myeloid cells and hypothesized that the propeptide of MPO delays the exit independently from ER chaperones calreticulin and calnexin (Bulow, Nauseef et al. 2002). Several members of the RAB family of proteins (e.g. Rab27a and Rab11) have been involved in vesicular trafficking in neutrophils (Munafo, Johnson et al. 2007, Johnson, He et al. 2016). Rab proteins are ras-like monomeric GTPases to regulate membrane identity, sorting, and fusion in human cells by recruitment of specific effectors. It has been suggested that the identification and sorting of granules occurs based on the Rab protein on the surface of the granule (Ramadass and Catz 2016). While this hypothesis may explains how granules are transported to the membrane in response to specific stimuli, there is no evidence how proteins are separated from the constitutive secretory pathway into the distinct granules.

N-glycosylation of serglycin may also play a role in sorting of proteins to granules (Niemann, Abrink et al. 2007, Glenthoj, Cowland et al. 2011). Serglycin is the major intracellular proteoglycan of neutrophils and the localization of elastase in azurophilic granules depends on serglycin (Niemann, Abrink et al. 2007). Furthermore, routing defensins to granules relies on serglycin in a murine model (Glenthoj, Cowland et al. 2011). However, it is not known whether a lack of serglycin leads to more degradation rather than misrouting or retention of granule proteins. The nature of posttranslational glycosylation may have a role to regulate the secretory pathway. The mature granule protein MPO containing complex oligosaccharides is being sorted to azurophilic granules, whereas non-properly glycosylated MPO is not stored in these granules (Olsson, Bulow et al. 2004).

The protein neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin, stored in azurophilic granules, is not any more stored but constitutively secreted when undifferentiated HL-60 cells were differentiated into granulocytes (Le Cabec, Calafat et al. 1997). This suggests that sorting into granules is depending on the stage of differentiation of myeloid cells. Cowland and colleagues hypothesized that timing of biosynthesis determines the localization of the individual granule proteins. MPO, the granule protein that is only found in azurophilic granules, was mainly synthesized in myeloblasts and promyelocytes whereas lysozyme was synthesized during all stages of neutrophil development with a maximum in myelocytes and metamyelocytes (Cowland and Borregaard 2016).

In rabbits, primary granules seem to be formed at the *cis*-Golgi, while granules appearing at later stages of granulopoiesis appear to be generated from the *trans*-Golgi (Bainton and Farquhar 1966). Furthermore, primary granule proteins are glycosylated by granule-specific β -hexosaminidase A. These so called paucimannosidic N-linked carbohydrate structures are not found in peroxidase negative granules (Thaysen-Andersen, Venkatakrishnan et al. 2015). Since N-linked carbohydrates are added in the ER and its modification is performed in the Golgi apparatus (Hang, Lin et al. 2015), this would be in line with the hypothesis of timing of biogenesis by adding glycosylation as the major factor (Thaysen-Andersen, Venkatakrishnan et al. 2015).

Interestingly, most of the newly formed protein lysozyme is spilled out of the cell and not stored into granules (from early promyelocyte stage up to band cells (Arnljots, Sorensen et al. 1998). In general, lysozyme appears to be sorted with lower efficiency granules (around 40%), when compared to MPO (Cowland and Borregaard 2016). In contrast, defensins are efficiently routed into granules up to the stage of promyelocytes and are mostly spilled out, when formed in mature neutrophils (Arnljots, Sorensen et al. 1998). This suggests some selectivity for granule proteins between the regulated and the constitutive secretory pathway, respectively.

Nevertheless, many open questions remain on how the decision is made regarding sorting of proteins to storage granules or to the constitutive pathway in neutrophils.

2.4. JAGN1 deficiency as a model to study cellular trafficking

Several characteristics of *JAGN1*-mutant neutrophils indicate an involvement of JAGN1 in the early secretory pathway of vesicle-mediated transport. Lee et al. observed that loss of *JAGN1* impairs vesicular trafficking during vitellogenesis in drosophila suggesting that JAGN1 protein is orchestrating ER organization (Lee and Cooley 2007).

JAGN1-deficient myelocytes exhibit enlarged ER structures (figure 5, A) and staurosporine induced ER stress in *JAGN1* mutated neutrophils lead to enhanced apoptosis (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014). The N-terminus of the protein JAGN1 interacts with three (COPA, COPB2, COPG2) out of seven subunits of COPI, indicating an involvement of JAGN1 in the sorting and/or packaging of proteins from the Golgi apparatus back to the ER (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014). Recently, that mutations in COPA have been reported to cause ERstress and impaired trafficking of proteins from the Golgi apparatus back to the ER (Watkin, Jessen et al. 2015). Thus, in JAGN1 deficiency the filling of granules could be affected in a COPA-dependent manner, explaining the phenotype of paucity of granules in neutrophil granulocytes. JAGN1 may have a role as a part of the sorting machinery in the ER, which helps packing cargoes into COPI. Increased ER stress response markers (such as BIP) and the enlargement of the ER seen in electron microscopy (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014) may therefore be consistent with the idea that JAGN1-deficiency is associated with a secretion defect.

Several proteins in JAGN1-deficient neutrophils showed aberrant N-glycomic profiles, underscoring the relationship of glycosylation of proteins in the ER and the secretory pathway (Wirnsberger, Zwolanek et al. 2014). One of these affected proteins was the G-CSF receptor. Furthermore, the secretion of *Gaussia* luciferase was reduced in *JAGN1* siRNA-mediated knockdown HeLa cells, indicating that the involvement of JAGN1 in the secretion of proteins is not specific for neutrophils, even if JAGN1 deficiency in humans appears to affect only neutrophils (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014). Interestingly, granulocytes of *JAGN1*- patients showed less granules compared to healthy donors (figure 5, A). This striking reduction of granularity could also be confirmed in hematopoietic-specific *JAGN1*-KO mice (figure 5, B) (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014, Wirnsberger, Zwolanek et al. 2014).

Additionally, there were detected changes of N-glycans of proteins in these hematopoietic-specific *JAGN1* KO mice. The affected proteins are stored in granules and participate in migration and toxicity of neutrophils, indicating that JAGN1 takes part in the glycosylation process and protein trafficking between the ER and the Golgi apparatus. The granule protein MPO as well as Mmp8 and Mmp9 were reduced, suggesting that all three subtypes of granules are affected (Wirnsberger, Zwolanek et al. 2014).


Figure 5: Enlarged ER structures and paucity of primary granules in JAGN1 deficiency (A) Transmission electron microscopy of the bone marrow. Myelocytes (left) from affected patients exhibited abnormal, enlarged ER structures (arrows) in contrast to myelocytes from a healthy donor (HD). Differentiated granulocytes (right) from affected subjects showed a paucity of typical granules (arrows). Scale bar, 1 μ m (adapted from Boztug et al., 2014). (B) Representative electron micrographs of segmented neutrophils from the bone marrow of a Jagn1 fl/fl and a hematopoietic-specific JAGN1 KO mice. Scale bar, 2 μ m). Black arrowheads indicate primary granules, and red arrowheads indicate secondary granules (from Wirnsberger et al., 2014).

A recent study showed that upon knocking-down JAGN1 in pancreatic β -cells, more glucose-stimulated insulin is secreted (Nosak, Silva et al. 2016). It is not obvious at this point, why there is more secretion of insulin, but generally, this is in line with the idea JAGN1 is involved in the secretory pathway.

3. Aim of this thesis

The orchestration of protein transport is crucial for cellular homeostasis. In neutrophil granulocytes, the formation of granules is highly dependent on a balanced and regulated secretory pathway to fulfil an important role in host defence. However, the mechanism how granules are formed is poorly understood so far.

JAGN1 deficiency was chosen as a model to shed more light into protein sorting and vesicular trafficking in neutrophils.

Therefore, the specific aims of this thesis were:

- 1. Establishing cellular models to analyse the role of JAGN1 in secretion
- 2. Analysis of intracellular protein transport using new biochemical tools

4. Material and methods

4.1. Secretome studies with mass spectrometry

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSc) were differentiated into mature neutrophil-like cells (Live/CD49d/Cdub/CD33) by Dr. Yoko Mizoguchi and were sorted by fluorescence-activated cell sorting aria in each two clones of wild type (WT) and *JAGN1* knockout (KO) on day 32 after differentiation. 250,000 cells per 250 μ l Hank's Balanced Salt Solution were stimulated with 1,5 μ M of phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) or let unstimulated as a control. Cells were incubated for 25 min. at 37 °C. Supernatants were collected and concentrated with 10 kD cut-off membrane amicon filters to a final volume of 30 μ l and stored at -80 °C. To the concentrated supernatant equal volume of a buffer containing 1 % sodium deoxycholate, 10 mM Tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine and 40 mM choloracetamide in 25 mM Tris pH 8.5 was added. The sample was mixed thoroughly and incubated at 37 °C for 20 minutes. The whole sample was diluted once with equal volume of water. The diluted samples were then digested with about 1 μ g of trypsin overnight at 37 °C.

The digested peptides were then purified and concentrated using a 3 plug SCX Stage Tip. The peptides were loaded on a 15 cm long reversed phase column (75 µm inner diameter, packed with 1.9 µm C18 beads) and eluted using a binary gradient of 0.1 % formic acid (buffer A) and 80 % acetonitrile in 0.1 % formic acid (buffer B). Eluted peptides were directly sprayed in to a bench top Orbitrap instrument (Q Exactive HF) (Nagaraj, Kulak et al. 2012) via a nano-electrospray ionization interface. Peptides were analysed using a regular top N data dependent acquisition scheme using HCD fragmentation (Olsen, Macek et al. 2007). Raw data were processed using MaxQuant computation proteomics (Cox and Mann 2008) platform and peak lists were searched against a Uniprot human proteome database. All peptide and protein identifications were filtered at 1% false discovery rate. Proteins across different samples were quantified using MaxLFQ (Cox, Hein et al. 2014) label free quantification algorithm.

4.2. CRISPR/Cas9 knock-out cell lines

For the retention using selective hook-system human cervical epitheloid carcinoma (HeLa) C and HeLa C CRISPR/Cas9 mediated *JAGN1* KO cells were generated.

Cell culture

To wash the cells Gibco® DPBS (1X) Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Salin (PBS) was used. To trypsinate HeLa cells 45 ml PBS and 5 ml Trypsin EDTA (TE) were mixed 1:10 (45 ml PBS and 5 ml TE). In 6-wells 2ml, in 12-wells 1ml, in 100 mm dishes 10 ml medium and in 150 mm 18 ml growth medium was used to culture the cells. For HeLa Gibco® (life technologiesTM) Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (1X) + GlutaMAXTM-I Pen Strep (penicillin, streptomycin) and 10 % foetal calf serum (FCS) was added. To count the cells Life Technologies Countess 2 was used with CountessTM Cell counting chamber slides. 15 μ l of Trypan Blue stain 0,4 % (InvitrogenTM, Thermo Fisher Scientific) and 15 μ l oft cells in media were counted.

JAGN1 knockout in HeLa cells

The guide sequence of 20 nucleotides targeting human *JAGN1* was designed using the CRISPR design tool at www.genome-engineering.org/crispr (Hsu, Scott et al. 2013) and cloned into a mammalian expression vector (pX458) bearing the Cas9 coding sequence, the sequences encoding the RNA components and a puromycin selection cassette (plasmid 48139; Addgene; (Cong, Ran et al. 2013). The guide sequences used to target exon 1 of human *JAGN1* were 5'-ggcacaatggcgtctcgagc-3' (guide 1), 5'-gtctcgagcaggccggcagg -3' (guide 2) and 5'- ccgcgagcggccggcaccga-3' (guide 3). All three different gRNA were used to transfect against *JAGN1*.

The backbone was digested at $_{37}$ °C for 2 hours with 30 µl of backbone d₃₇_pCas9 (pX458), 5 µl of 2.1. NEB buffer, 2 µl of Bbs I enzyme and 13 µl of ddH₂O. The resulting fragments were ligated at room temperature for one hour in the mix of 1 µl backbone, 1,5 µl of the insert (1:200), 2 µl of ligase buffer, 1 µl of T4 ligase and 14,5 µl of ddH₂O.

A total of 4 µg of the pX458 vector containing the sequence of the sgRNA was transfected into HeLa cells. 24 h after transfection, cells were selected for 48 h in 2 mg/ml puromycin. Then, 1000 or 2000 or 4000 cells were seeded in 15 cm culture dishes and cultured until single cell colonies were large enough to be manually scrap them off the dish and transferred to 96-well plates. Single clones were then expanded and screened for JAGN1 by gel electrophoresis and Western blot. Clones were confirmed using sequencing with JAGN1 primers.

Sequencing

Constructs were verified by sequencing procedures. Mix2Seq Kits (Eurofins Genomics) was used for sequencing according to manufactures instructions. For DNA extraction purification Metabion PCR purification KIT was used according to manufactures instructions. For gel extraction Metabion *mi*-Gel extraction KIT was used according to manufactures protocol. 1g agarose was diluted in 100ml TAE and heated in a microwave and cooled down afterwards. Ethidium bromide was added in a concentration of 1:1000. Samples were diluted 1:10 with Orange G Loader. TAE buffer was added. Gel

electrophoresis was performed for 20 min. at 100 Volt. As marker 5 µl of Gene Ruler low range (< 700kb) was used. Following PCR programs were used (table 3):

95°C	1 cycle
95°C	
58°C	35 cycles
72°C	
72°C	1 cycle
	95°C 95°C 58°C 72°C 72°C

Table 3: PCR program for genome preparation

To determine correct knock-out following primers were used for the sequencing (table 4).

Table 4: Used Primers (Metabion)

Primer	Sequence 5' > 3'
hJAGN1_fwd.	CGCAAATAGGGTCAGTGGGC
hJAGN1_rev.	CGCAAATAGGGTCAGTGGGC

Gel electrophoresis

To determine the *JAGN1* KO in HeLa cells gel electrophoresis and Western blotting were used according to following protocols. 15 % sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)-Gels and 5 % stocking gels were used prepared according to following mixtures (table 5 and 6):

Table 5: Mix for two 15% SDS gels

4.8 ml	H ₂ O	
10 ml	30 % Acrylamide mix	
5 ml	1.5 M Tris (pH 8.8)	
o.2 ml	10 % SDS	
o.2 ml	10 % Ammonium Persulfate	
32 µl	Tetramethylethylendiamin	

Table 6: Mix for two 5% stacking gels

3,4 ml	H ₂ O
830 µl	30 % Acrylamide mix
630 µl	0.5 M Tris (pH 6.8)
50 µl	10 % SDS
50 µl	10 % Ammonium Persulfate
5 µl	Tetramethylethylendiamin

Samples were diluted 1:4 with lemli for 5 min. at 95 °C. Gel electrophoresis was performed for 120 min. at 120 volt and blotted in transfer buffer for 70 min. at 100 volt.

To evaluate *JAGN1* KO in HeLa cells, blot was blocked in in 5 % tris-buffered saline (TBS) RT for 1 hour. Afterwards the blot was incubated in 10 ml of 1:2000 JAGN1 polyclonal rabbit antibody in 2,5 % bovine serum albumin (BSA) in TBS at +4 °C. The Western blot was washed 2 times for 15 min. with TBS/Tween at room temperature and incubated for

30 min. in 10 ml of 1:5000 secondary anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase (HRP) antibody in 2,5 % BSA in TBS at 4 °C. Western blot was washed 4 times for 15 min. with TBS/Tween at room temperature.

For stripping the Western blot was incubated with RestoreTM PLUS Western Blot stripping buffer (Thermo Scientific) for 15 min. at room temperature. To evaluate loading of the samples actin was used. Blot was washed 2 times for 15 min. with TBS/Tween at room temperature. The blot was blocked in in 5 % TBS at room temperature for 1 hour. Afterwards the blot was incubated in 10 ml of 1:10000 actin mouse antibody in 2,5 % BSA in TBS at +4 °C. The Western blot was washed two times for 15 min. with TBS/Tween at room temperature and incubated for 30 min. in 10 ml of 1:5000 secondary anti-mouse HRP antibody in 2,5 % BSA in TBS at 4 °C. Western blot was washed 4 times for 15 min. with TBS/Tween at room temperature.

For Imaging Western blots were incubated in ImmobilonTM Western Chemiluminescent HRP Substrate (Millipore) and the ChemiDoc Touch Imaging System (Bio-Rad Laboratories Gmbh) was used according to manufactures instructions.

4.3. Retention using selective hooks-system

On day one 2 sterile cover slips were placed into each 6-well. 55.000 HeLa control cells and HeLa *JAGN1* KO cells were seeded into each 6-well with 2 ml DMEM and 10 % FCS. On day 2 HeLa cells were washed with PBS once and fresh 2 ml DMEM and 10 % FCS was added. Cells were transfected with the RUSH plasmid pIRESneo3-Str-KDEL_LyzC-SBP-EGFP (figure 6).

The RUSH plasmid Str-KDEL_ST-SBP-EGFP was a gift from Franck Perez (Addgene plasmid # 65264). The pIRESneo3-Str-KDEL_LyzC-SBP-EGFP plasmid used for HeLa RUSH transfection was a gift from M. Pakdel (Max-Planck-Institute of biochemistry, Martinsried, Germany), (Deng, Pakdel et al. 2018).



Figure 6: Vector map of RUSH-plasmid pIRESneo3-Str-KDEL_LyzC-SBP-EGFP. The plasmid contains the human cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter/enhancer, the ampicillin resistance gene (AmpR) including the promoter, the internal ribosomal entry site (IRES), the signal sequence KDEL, lysozyme C (LyzC) as the reporter, the streptavidin binding protein (SBP), the gene of enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP), and a multiple cloning site (MCS), FLAG-tag and the E. coli replication origin (ori). The plasmid was provided by M. Pakdel (Max-Planck-Institute of biochemistry, Martinsried, Germany).

Plasmid was amplified using thermo competent E. coli. Thermo competent E. coli was defrosted on ice. 1 µl of the plasmid was added and incubated for 20 min. on ice. After 90 sec. of transformation at 42 °C cells were recovered with 1 ml LB medium for 40 min. at 37 °C. For Maxi preparation cells were incubated in 400 ml LB and 600 µl ampicillin overnight at 37 °C. For mini-preparation cells were incubated in 4 ml LB medium and 6 µl ampicillin overnight at 37 °C. For Maxi preparation Nucleo Spin® Plasmid Easy Pure (InvitrogenTM, Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used according to manufactures protocol. For the Mini preparation QUIAGEN QIA Prep[®] Spin Miniprep KIT 250 was used according to manufactures instructions. To evaluate Plasmid DNA concentrations Nano Drop was used according to manufactures instructions. For transfection following reaction mixture was used (table 7).

200 µl	Opti-MEM	
2 µg	RUSH-Plasmid	
12 µl	Polyethylenimine	

Table 7: Mix for transfection of HeLa cells with RUSH plasmid

The mixture was vortexed for 5 sec. and incubated for 15 min. at RT.

On day three DMEM and 10 % FCS was pre-warmed in 37 °C water bath. 4 % paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS and place it under the hood was prepared as well as 40 mM biotin (SUPELCO) in pre-warmed DMEM and 10 % FCS. Cells were washed once with PBS. 2 ml DMEM and biotin were added to the 60 min. well, the timer was started for 20 min. and DMEM with or without biotin was added to remaining cells. Cells were incubated 20 min. at 37 °C. Medium was removed from next well and 2 ml DMEM and biotin was added to the 40 min. well. Cells were incubated 20 min. at 37 °C. Medium was removed from next well and 2 ml DMEM and biotin was added to the 40 min. well. Cells were incubated 20 min. at 37 °C. Medium was removed from the next wells and 2 ml DMEM and biotin to the 20 min. well was added. Cells were incubated for 18 min. at 37 °C. Two min. prior the final incubation time elapses, wells were washed one time with PBS. 4 % of PFA in PBS was added to fix the cells for 10 min. at room temperature in the dark. Wells were washed 3 times in PBS and cover slips were mounted on microscope slides.

For additional immunofluorescence staining cells were permeabilized by adding permeabilisation buffer for 5 min. at room temperature. Cells were washed 3 times with PBS and blocked in blocking buffer for 1h at room temperature. The glass cover slips were transferred into a 15 cm dish covered with moist whatman paper and Parafilm. Primary antibodies (1:300 mouse a-P230, 1:1000 sheep a-TGN46, 1:500 mouse a-Calnexin, 1:300 rabbit a-JAGN1, 1:300 rat a-HA) and/or 1:6000 a-DAPI diluted in blocking buffer were added and incubated for 1 h at room temperature. Cells were washed 3 times for 5 min. with PBS. Secondary fluorescently conjugated antibodies (1:1000 a-mouse Alexa-594. 1:1000 a-sheep Alexa-633, 1:1000 a-rat Alexa-647) were added in blocking buffer and incubated for 30 min. at room temperature. Cells were washed 3 times for 5 min. with PBS. Cover slips were mounted with ProLong Gold (InvitrogenTM, Thermo Fisher Scientific) on microscope slides.

Acquisition

Images were acquired using the laser scanning confocal fluorescence microscope ZEISS LSM 780 (Carl Zeiss) with a 100x/1.46 oil a-Plan-Apochromat oil objective lens. To quantify secretory vesicle numbers, z-stacks were acquired using the same the objective. For detection of Alexa Fluor, the 488 nm laser line was used. Pictures were acquired using Leica Software (ZEN, 2010) and adjusted with the ImageJ image software. Only cells were analysed that showed appropriate transport of the reporter to the Golgi apparatus after addition of biotin. Cells with ER signal were excluded from the analysis. For the

representation of the whole volume of the cell, typically 9-15 z-stacks with a step-size of 0.35 mm were acquired of each field of view.

Quantification of vesicles

Vesicles were quantified using FIJI software and a programmed makro plugin including the threshold algorithm "Yen". (Deng, Pakdel et al. 2018).

4.4. Statistics

For the secretome studies Perseus software platform was used. Benjamini Hochberg test was performed with a false discovery rate of 0.05. Significant abbundance was calculated using students t-test for the volcano plots.

For statistical evaluation of the quantification of vesicles in the RUSH-system GraphPad Prism for Mac OS X (GraphPad Software) was used (one-way ANOVA). P-value of 0.05 was considered as significant.

5. Results

The aim of the thesis was to analyse the participation of JAGN1 in the secretory pathway. First, a comprehensive mass-spectrometry (MS) analysis was undertaken to define the constitutents of the secretome of iPSC-derived bona fide neutrophil granulocytes. Second, intracellular protein trafficking has been studies in a newly generated JAGN1 HeLa knockout system by means of immunofluorescence. Third, using the granule protein lysozyme C as a model, the kinetics of protein trafficking has been studied in JAGN1deficient and wildtype cells by means of the RUSH-system.

5.1. Impaired secretion in JAGN1-deficient iPSc-derived bona fide neutrophil granulocytes

We first asked whether JAGN1 regulates secretion of proteins in neutrophils. To answer this question, *JAGN1* KO clones of iPSc-derived neutrophil-like cells were generated by Dr. Yoko Mizoguchi. The cells were either stimulated with 1,5 μ M PMA for 25 min. or left unstimulated. Supernatants of two wildtype control clones and two *JAGN1* KO clones were collected in triplicates, respectively. The supernatants were analysed by mass spectrometry (MS).

To get an overview about the reliability of the experiments, principal components analysis was performed. There was no overlap between the triplicates of each group. All four groups (Control PMA-, control PMA+, *JAGN1* KO PMA- and *JAGN1* KO PMA+) could be clearly discriminated in both independent experiments (figure 7). Even though, in the second experiment, the triplicates of PMA stimulated *JAGN1* KO cells were more heterogeneous than in the first experiment, the principal components analysis indicated that the differences in the secretory profiles were either genotype-dependent or dependent upon the stimulation with PMA.



Figure 7 Principal component analysis of supernatant triplicates of iPSc-derived neutrophil-like cells. Component one was JAGN1 KO compared to control (y-axis). Component two was PMA stimulation compared to unstimulated condition (x-axis). Secretory profiles were genotype-dependent or dependent upon PMA-stimulation. (A) Experiment 1: consistent discrimination of all four groups. (B) Experiment 2: consistent discrimination of all groups. Stimulated JAGN1 KO clones are more heterogeneous in the second experiment than in the first one.

MS-based quantitation of secreted proteins identified 1726 proteins in the first experiment and 1773 proteins in the second experiment. Proteins that were marked as potential contamination (32 and 30 proteins in the first and second experiment, respectively) or proteins only identified by site of post translational modifications (50 proteins in the first and 42 proteins in the second experiment) were excluded. The remaining proteins were analysed using Perseus software platform.

To determine the effect of PMA stimulation on iPSc-derived neutrophil-like cells, proteins that differed significantly in their secreted abundances, we compared the secreted proteins of control cells without PMA stimulation and control cells after the stimulation with PMA as described in material and methods. Figure 8 shows a Volcano plot of two independent experiments. 35 proteins were consistently found to be secreted in higher levels upon PMA stimulation in both independent experiments, whereas 78 proteins were found to be secreted at lower levels in the stimulated controls.

There were no contradictory results of proteins that were less abundant in one experiment and more abundant in the other one.



Figure 8: Volcano plots of secreted proteins of iPSc-derived neutrophil granulocytes upon stimulation with PMA. Supernatants were collected and analysed with mass spectrometry as described in material and methods. Blue dots represent individual proteins that are significantly less abundant and with red dots represent individual proteins that are significantly more abundant upon PMA stimulation in comparison to unstimulated control cells (PMA-) (A) Experiment 1. (B) Experiment 2.

In view of these consistent cellular responses towards PMA, we conclude that PMA stimulation induces an increase and decrease of specific protein secretion in iPSc-derived neutrophil granulocytes. Next, we used this model system to analyse the secretome in JAGN1-deficient iPS-derived neutrophils, in the presence and absence of PMA, respectively. Table 8 summarizes the experimental findings and lists the number of detected proteins in the indicated experimental condition.

To analyse dependency on PMA stimulation in *JAGN1* KO cells we compared PMA stimulated *JAGN1* KO clones to unstimulated *JAGN1* KO clones. 19 proteins were significantly less secreted and 57 proteins were significantly more secreted upon stimulation with PMA. Granule proteins, such as MPO and BPI, as well as numerous lysosomal hydrolases, such as cathepsin D and beta-galactosidase, were more secreted after the addition of PMA in the control clones. This underlines that the reaction to PMA was not impaired in the absence of JAGN1.

To discover proteins that were dependent on PMA stimulus in the absence of JAGN1, *JAGN1* KO clones were compared to control clones with no addition of PMA. Four proteins were significantly less secreted and 9 proteins were significantly more secreted. In the group of less abundant proteins there was no evidence for extracellular function of

the secreted proteins. In the group of more abundant proteins mostly lysosomal hydrolases were identified, such as cathepsin D and beta-galactosidase.

	Number of proteins with decreased level of abundance	Number of proteins with increased level of abundance
Control + / control -	78	35
JAGN1 KO + / JAGN1 KO -	19	57
JAGN1 KO - / control -	4	9
JAGN1 KO + / control +	4	18

Table 8: Number of proteins with significant differences of abundance in supernatants of iPSc-derived *JAGN1* KO neutrophil granulocytes

Number of proteins that were identified in both experiments with significant differences of abundance in supernatants of iPSc-derived neutrophil-like cells. Wildtype (n = x clones) and JAGN1-deficient cells (n = z clones) were stimulated with (+) PMA for 25 min. or were unstimulated (-). JAGN1 KO was generated using CRISPR/Cas9 as described in material and methods. Proteins were identified with mass spectrometry and analysis was performed with Perseus software platform. Potentially contaminated proteins were excluded as well as proteins only identified by site.

To determine the secretory output of *JAGN1* KO cells after stimulation with PMA we compared PMA stimulated *JAGN1* KO clones to PMA stimulated control clones. 4 proteins showed a significant decrease in abundance and 18 proteins were secreted at significantly higher levels. 13 of these proteins were annotated with extracellular functions. 14 proteins showed signal sequence in Uniprot Database, which is a necessary part of the amino acids for the translocation to the ER and subsequently for the secretory pathway. The other four proteins (Phosphoserine aminotransferase, D-3-phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase, Coagulation factor XIII A chain and Tripeptidyl-peptidase 1) showed no signal sequence for the destination towards the secretory pathway.

Interestingly, two primary granule proteins, MPO and BPI, were secreted at significantly higher levels in PMA stimulated *JAGN1* KO clones compared to control clones. A third granule protein, lysozyme C, which can be found in all three granule subtypes was also found to be secreted at higher levels in stimulated *JAGN1* KO clones, albeit only in one experiment. Cathepsin D was also more secreted in *JAGN1* KO clones compared to control clones in the stimulated and unstimulated conditions. It was also significantly more secreted in stimulated control clones compared to unstimulated control clones.

Furthermore, lysosomal hydrolases (such as lysosomal alpha-mannosidase, betagalactosidase, N-acetylglucosamine-6-sulfatase, arylsulfatase B, beta-mannosidase, acid ceramidase, gamma-interferon-inducible lysosomal thiol reductase, tripeptidylpeptidase 1, ganglioside GM2 activator) were significantly more secreted in *JAGN1* KO clones compared to control clones.

The histone H₂A was significantly less secreted in stimulated *JAGN1* KO clones compared to stimulated control clones. Other histones (such as histone H₂B type-1, core histone macro-H₂A.1, histone H₃, histone H₂ type-1, histone H₄, and histone H_{1.2}) showed also a reduction of secretion in the *JAGN1* KO clones but only in one experiment (figure 9).



Figure 9: Volcano plots of secreted proteins of iPSc-derived JAGN1 KO neutrophil granulocytes in comparison to WT controls. Supernatants were collected and analysed with mass spectrometry as described in material and methods. Blue dots indicate proteins that are secreted at significantly reduced levels, red dots indicate proteins that are secreted at higher levels. Control clone after incubation with 1,5µM PMA for 25min. at 37°C vs. JAGN1 KO clone in the same conditions. Highlighted are BPI (bactericidal permeability-increasing protein), CTSD (cathepsin D), MPO (myeloperoxidase), LYSC (lysozyme C), HIST1H2B (histone H2B type-1), H2AFY (core histone macro-H2A.1), HIST1H3 (histone H3), H2AFV (histone H2A), HIST1H2 (histone H2 type-1), HIST1H4A (histone H4), HIST1H1C (histone H1.2); (A) Experiment 1. (B) Experiment 2.

Additionally, almost all proteins that were more abundant in the MS-analysis in the absence of JAGN1 were N-glycosylated proteins. There was no distinct pattern with respect to post-translational modification in less secreted proteins.

In principle, these data can be reconciled with with two possible and non mutually exclusive interpretations. The differences in protein secretion could possibly be due to a higher degree of apoptosis in the absence of JAGN1. Alternatively, JAGN1 might specifically control secretion of defined proteins such as granule proteins and lysosomal hydrolases. Since histone proteins were found at lower levels in supernatants of JAGN1- deficient cells, it is possible that NETosis is impaired in JAGN1-deficiency.

In an attempt to distinguish between these interpretations and to directly visualize secretion, we switched to another model system and analysed the kinetics of secretion in adherent HeLa cells.

5.2. CRISPR/Cas9 mediated JAGN1 knock-out in HeLa cells

In a first step, JAGN1-deficient HeLa cells were created using CRISPR/Cas9 mediated gene editing. *JAGN1-deficient* clones were tested by Western blot. Nine out of 68 clones showed no JAGN1-specific band after incubation with the anti-JAGN1 polyclonal rabbit antibody. Actin was used as a loading control for all samples (figure 10).



Figure 10: Absence of Jagn1 in cellular lysates of HeLa JAGN1 KO clones. Nine positive CRISPR/Cas9 mediated JAGN1 KO clones in HeLa cells were detected in Western blot. 15%

SDS gel, 1:2000 JAGN1 polyclonal rabbit antibody, 1:5000 secondary anti-rabbit HRP. As loading control actin antibody was used 1:5000.

To confirm the KO of *JAGN1* in HeLa cells the DNA was sequenced using the *JAGN1* primer hJAGN1_fwd and hJAGN1_rev as described in material and methods. In all nine clones *JAGN1* was mutated. For further experiments, two clones with frameshift mutations were chosen. Clone one showed a homozygous two base pair deletion, and clone two had a homozygous one base pair insertion at position 23 of the *JAGN1* coding sequence (figure 11).



Figure 11: Sequencing analysis of CRISPR/Cas9 mediated JAGN1 KO clones. Two clones showed frame shift mutations in JAGN1 coding sequence by sequencing analysis. The first clone exhibited a two base pair deletion at position 10 and 11. The second clone had a one base pair insertion at position 23 of the JAGN1 coding sequence.

Thus, two JAGN1-deficient HeLa clones were successfully generated. These cells were used for further analysis of impaired secretion in the absence of *JAGN1*.

5.3. Impaired vesicular trafficking of lysozyme C in JAGN1-deficient HeLa cells

The *JAGN1* KO HeLa clones were generated to study the influence of JAGN1 on intracellular protein trafficking and secretion of proteins.

Lysozyme c was chosen as reporter protein for several reasons. Lysozyme c was identified in the secretome of JAGN1-deficient iPSC derived-neutrophil like cells in higher levels when compared to control cells. And lysozyme c is a granule protein, which is present in all three subtypes of neutrophil granules.

As the secretion of proteins is a highly dynamic process it is crucial to monitor the kinetics of this process. The retention using selective hooks (RUSH)-system was established by Boncompain and Perez (Boncompain and Perez 2012) to study secretory cargo sorting. The system allows synchronizing and visualizing the release of candidate secretory reporter proteins tagged with EGFP. The reporter is retained in the ER by interacting with its streptavidin binding protein (SBP) sequence to a streptavidin-KDEL hook that is co-translationally inserted into the ER compartment. Upon biotin addition to the cell culture medium, the reporter is released from the hook and its transport kinetics is followed by fluorescent microscopy (figure 12).



Figure 12: Molecular basis of the retention using selective hooks- system. The KDEL sequence that is fused to streptavidin retains the hook in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Under steady-state conditions the hook binds the reporter of interest (in this case lysozyme C) by its affinity to streptavidin binding peptide. After the addition of excess of biotin the fusion between the hook and the reporter is outcompeted and the reporter can travel to the

next compartment, such as the Golgi apparatus (GOLGI) and its final destination. The reporter is visualized by the fusion to a fluorescent protein, such as GFP. Adapted from (Boncompain and Perez 2012).

HeLa control cells and HeLa *JAGN1* KO cells were transfected with the Lysozyme C-RUSH construct pIRESneo3-Str-KDEL_LyzC-SBP-EGFP.

The RUSH system was used to analyse defective protein trafficking in HeLa *JAGN1* KO cells. In absence of biotin, by using SBP-EGFP tagged lysozyme C (LyzC-SBP-EGFP) as a reporter, we observed its localization and ER retention by co-localizing with ER marker calnexin. After 20 min. of biotin addition, the reporter co-localized with TGN marker TGN46 to the Golgi apparatus. After 40 and 60 min. of biotin addition, LyzC-SBP-EGFP localized to the Golgi apparatus and to secretory vesicles. The experiment was done three times and representative images are shown in figure 13.





Figure 13: Immunofluorescent images of HeLa control and HeLa JAGN1 KO cells after transfection with RUSH plasmid LyzC-SBP-EGFP. HeLa cells were transiently transfected with RUSH reporter protein LyzC-SBP-EGFP for 24 h. To study LyzC-SBP-EGFP transport kinetics cells were fixed with PFA at time points 0, 20, 40 and 60 min. after biotin addition. Images were acquired by fluorescence microscopy. Calnexin antibody labelled with Alexa594 was used as an ER marker and TGN46 antibody labelled with Alexa594 as a trans Golgi network marker. Arrows highlight secretory vesicles. Experiment was done three times. Representative images are shown for HeLa control cells (A) and HeLa JAGN1 KO cells (B).

LyzC-SBP-EGFP secretory vesicles were quantified using FIJI software and a programmed customized ImageJ macro plugin and compared between HeLa control cells and CRISPR/Cas9 mediated *JAGN1* KO HeLa cells. Whereas at time point 20 min. no significant difference was seen, WT and JAGN1 KO cells showed differences after 20 and 40 min, resprectively. The mean number of EGFP tagged lysozyme c positive vesicles in HeLa control cells and HeLa *JAGN1* KO cells after 40 min. were 59.40 (SEM = 27.99) and 36.75 (SEM = 25.24), respectively (p<0.001). After 60 min. there were significantly (p<0.05) less EGFP tagged lysozyme C positive vesicles in *JAGN1* KO HeLa cells (mean = 62.19; SEM = 29.67) compared to controls (mean = 49.61; SEM = 29.95) (figure 14).



Figure 14: Quantification of LyzC-SBP-EGFP secretory vesicles. The number of LyzC-SBP-EGFP vesicles per cell were quantified in HeLa control cells or JAGN1 KO after 20, 40, and 60 min. of biotin addition using custom-made ImageJ macro plugin (mean \pm SEM, n= 37-42 cells); * p< 0.05, *** p< 0.001, (one-way ANOVA).

Thus, the vesicular transport of Lysozyme C was delayed in JAGN1-deficient cells, indicating that the vesicular trafficking in *JAGN1* KO cells for lysozyme C is defective. At first sight, this finding is in contrast to our observation of increased lysozyme C secretion in JAGN1-deficient neutrophil granulocytes. However, the experimental conditions cannot easily be compared. iPS derived neutrophils are different cells, furthermore they were stimulated with PMA. Taken together, both experimental systems document that the secretory pathway and vesicular trafficking are affected in JAGN1-deficient cells.

6. Discussion

The reason for studying vesicular trafficking in JAGN1-mutated cells was mainly to elucidate the relation between the ER located protein JAGN1 and the phenotype of JAGN1-deficient patients suffering from SCN. Although there is evidence that JAGN1 is involved in secretion the detailed mechanism is not known so far. Therefore, this thesis aimed to shed light the role of the JAGN1 protein in the secretory pathway using novel cellular model systems.

6.1. Interpretation of the results in view of current scientific knowledge

The release of granule proteins of neutrophil granulocytes has to be regulated in a sensible way to avoid proteostatic stress to neutrophils, to prevent tissue damage and to fulfil their duty to kill pathogens. Therefore, the content of granules has to be controlled during the development of the neutrophils.

The main findings of the secretome data showed the loss of JAGN1 seems to impair this delicate balance. In JAGN1-deficient cells, there were consistent differences in protein abundance. In JAGN1-deficient neutrophil granulocytes, MS analysis of secreted proteins revealed an increased abundance of granule proteins and lysosomal hydrolases. Furthermore, at least one subtype of histones was significantly less abundant in *JAGN1* KO clones. Because the vast majority of secreted proteins was not affected in the absence of JAGN1, the data suggest that there is rather a specific defect. In particular secretion of specific proteins upon stimulation with PMA appears to be dependent on the presence of JAGN1 in iPSc-derived neutrophil-like cells.

To visualize protein trafficking intracellularly, the RUSH-system provides an excellent option. The CRISPR/Cas9 mediated HeLa *JAGN1* KO cells showed a delay of transporting the granule protein lysozyme C into vesicles. Thus, JAGN1 is necessary for proper lysozyme C vesicular trafficking in HeLa cells. Although the studies were not done in neutrophils it is remarkable that lysozyme has been described as one of the most effective enzymes in host defence by destroying the wall of pathogens (Callewaert and Michiels 2010). Furthermore, it is stored in all subtypes of granules. If the intracellular trafficking of such an essential protein of neutrophils is perturbed, one might speculate that neutrophils are not able to fulfil their function properly.

Interestingly, the affected granule proteins in the secretome data were MPO and BPI as well as cathepsin D, that are all granule proteins stored in the azurophilic granules. This observation is in line with earlier findings that JAGN1-deficient neutrophils exhibit a

paucity of primary granules (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014, Wirnsberger, Zwolanek et al. 2014). Of note, our studies confirmed that protein expression of BIP is increased in *JAGN1*-mutated granulocytes, again in line with previously published data from primary human neutrophil granulocyts (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014).

Based on observations in Drosophila mutants, Lee et al. have come up with the hypothesis that JAGN1 may be important to orchestrate nutrient transport through feeder cells during vitellogenesis (Lee and Cooley 2007). Our data in JAGN1-deficient cells, both in iPS-derived neutrophils and in HeLa cells, confirm a specific role of JAGN1 in controlling vesicular transport.

Nevertheless, it is not yet clear how an ER-resident protein directly influences the secretory pathway. The secretion defect in JAGN1-deficient cells could be secondary to a defect of the COPI complex. The sorting machinery of the COPI complex might depend on proper function of JAGN1. The COPI complex orchestrates the first checkpoint in the early secretory pathway between the ER and the ERGIC and is involved in intraGolgi transport (Duden 2003). Through mutations in JAGN1 the interaction between COPI and JAGN1 might be dysregulated and subsequently the maintainance of ER- and Golgi-resident proteins is disturbed. Too many proteins consecutively accumulate in the Golgi apparatus. One might speculate that an overload of the TGN might lead to dysregulation of sorting machineries in the TGN and finally in secretion defects, including lysosomal hydrolases and granule proteins.

It is possible that JAGN1 is involved in sorting hydrolases into granules through a regulated pathway. As there were mainly lysosomal hydrolases affected in the secretome study, it is thinkable that lysosomal hydrolases that should be routed to granules by a regulated pathway are wrongly sorted into the constitutive pathway in the absence of JAGN1. As mentioned above the constitutive pathway is depending on M6P and MPR. Subsequently, lysosomal hydrolases are rather constitutively secreted than stored into the granules. This missorting in the Golgi apparatus could explain the higher abundance of the mentioned proteins in the extracellular space.

Sorting of lysosomal hydrolases is depending on M6P moieties on their N-linked oligosaccharide chains. JAGN1-deficient cells showed N-glycosylation defects. As most of the significantly more abundant proteins in the MS-analysis in the absence of JAGN1 were N-glycosylated, the dysregulation in sorting might be related to glycosylation. This would also confirm the findings of Boztug et al. that N-glycosylation defects play a role in the pathophysiology of JAGN1 deficiency (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014). It has also been recently described that azurophilic granule proteins (such as MPO and BPI) are dominated by paucimannosidic N-linked carbohydrate structures (Thaysen-Andersen, Venkatakrishnan et al. 2015), which are added in the ER and modified in the Golgi apparatus (Hang, Lin et al. 2015).

As described before, missing N-glycans could result in ER retention (Vagin, Kraut et al. 2009). The knowledge that so called paucimannosidic N-linked carbohydrate structures are only found in azurophilc granules, would agree with the finding that proteins from azurophilic granules are affected. If JAGN1 is participating in glycosylation in the ER the lack of N-glycans on proteins in the absence of JAGN1 would be followed by a higher rate of proteins in the ER and finally culminate in ER-stress. If the so far described glycosylation defects play a specific role for the transport of lysozyme C is not clear. It has been described that knockdown of a transport machinery of the early secretory pathway perturbs glycosylation followed by a slower rate of secretion in the Golgi apparatus (Wakana, van Galen et al. 2012).

Furthermore, many proteins that were detected in the supernatants of JAGN1-deficient cells showed no signal sequence or annotation as being secreted. This raises the question if there are unconventional secretory pathways. Another explanation to the fact, that some proteins showed no signal sequence could be a higher rate of apoptosis in the abesnce of JAGN1. If lysosomal hydrolases are not any more efficiently packed into the regulated secretory pathway and subsequently into storage granules but are transported unregulated, this can lead to an accumulation of lysosomal hydrolases and consequently to toxic effects in the cell. This might explain the higher rate of apoptosis in JAGN1-deficient cells, which has been described before (Boztug, Jarvinen et al. 2014). For example, cathepsin D was more secreted in *JAGN1* KO clones compared to control clones in the stimulated and unstimulated conditions. Cathepsin D was shown to induce neutrophil apoptosis through direct cleavage of caspase-8 in human and mouse neutrophils (Conus, Perozzo et al. 2008, Conus, Pop et al. 2012). Thus, more secretion of cathepsin D in the absence of JAGN1 could be related to the higher susceptibility to apoptosis.

Another possibility is, that the secretion defect is related to ER stress. As mentioned above, increased synthesis of secretory proteins can lead to ER stress. The presence of JAGN1 might participate in the quality control in the ER. Loss of function of JAGN1 possibly perturbs the export of proteins from the ER into the early secretory pathway. The mechanism behind that needs further biochemical analysis. But it has already been shown that loss of JAGN1 leads to an increasing ER-stress, including enlarged ER structures (Wirnsberger, Zwolanek et al. 2014).

It has been demonstrated that the subtypes of granules vary in their kinetics of mobilization in response to inflammatory signals. The mechanism is not understood but the calcium levels of the cell appear to are involved (Amulic, Cazalet et al. 2012). It is also known that intracellular calcium levels are mainly regulated by the ER (Capiod 2011, Pinto,

Kihara et al. 2015). If JAGN1 is involved in calcium homeostasis this might be an indication why the kinetics of lysozyme C rich vesicles was impaired in the absence of JAGN1. Consequently the kinetics of mobilization of the granules to the cell surface might also be linked to the presence of JAGN1 by its role in the organization of the ER.

As mentioned above PMA stimulates NETosis including the involvement of histones. Less secretion of histone H2A in *JAGN1* KO clones could be related to less efficient formation of NETs in the absence of JAGN1 (Hirsch 1958, Park, Yi et al. 2000). As recently described the release of MPO in histones was reduced in the absence of JAGN1 (Khandagale, Lazzaretto et al. 2018). This finding might be connected with our observation that MPO is more secreted in the absence of JAGN1. If MPO was rather released by the constitutive pathway than stored to granules the percentage of MPO for the formation of NETs would be also impaired.

Taken together, our data, interpreted in light of current knowledge, does not yet allow a definitive conclusion on the exact mechanisms how JAGN1 is involved in the secretory pathway. JAGN1 can either directly or indirectly be involved in the sorting of granule proteins of azurophilic granules and lysosomal hydrolases.

6.2. Limitations of the experiments

Even though our findings document a role for JAGN1 in controlling the secretory pathway, several methodological caveats have to taken into consideration.

First, the secretome analysis and the RUSH-experiment both were not performed in primary neutrophil granulocytes but in cellular model systems. IPSc-derived neutrophils behave in many respects like primary neutrophil granulocytes: they share expression of the genes that are physiologically expressed, they roll, adhere, and transmigrate like primary neutrophils, they phagocytose and kill bacteria like primary neutrophils (Mizoguchi et al, unpublished). However, the secretome of iPS derived neutrophils has not yet been directly compared the secretome of primary neutrophils.

The RUSH-system was performed in HeLa cells, which reflects a model to study general defects in trafficking rather than the pathophysiology of neutrophils. In HeLa cells lysozyme C is not stored into granules but directly released into the extracellular space. It is unknown whether the secretory pathway in HeLa cells is also present in neutrophils. Clearly, neutrophil granulocytes need to assemble a machinery of primary, secondary and tertiary granules. However, sorting of cargo at the TGN might be related to the phenotype of SCN patients with JAGN1-deficient neutrophils. But too little is known about the sorting mechanisms in neutrophils.

Even though primary neutrophil granulocytes from patients and healthy control individuals would, in principle, represent the best cellular model system, there are several limitations. First, JAGN1-deficiency is a very rare disease, currently there are less than 20 families described worldwide. Second, affected patients are children and thus represent a highly vulnerable group. For ethical reasons, one cannot simple perform venipunctures to obtain blood samples for basic science studies. Third, it is technically quite challenging to study secretory mechanisms in primary neutrophils. They are postmitotic and quite short-lived cells and cannot easily be genetically manipulated.

Furthermore, it has to be mentioned that the results of the two experiments are not comparable for two reasons. As mentioned above, the data was collected in different cell systems. And the point of time at which the supernatants for the MS data was collected and the point of time at which the IF images were taken for the RUSH experiment varied. This might explain why lysozyme C was only in the secretome of one PMA stimulated JAGN1 clone significantly more secreted (in the other KO clone it was also more secreted but not significant). Nevertheless, the cause for the results of the two different approaches might be the same.

Lastly, although most of the secreted proteins are glycosylated, the findings do not indicate a clear evidence for the involvement of glycosylation in the secretion defects. It would be necessary to discriminate if the significant different abundant proteins show also abnormal N-glycans.

Regarding the results of the RUSH-system it has to be discussed that the delay of lysozyme C was significant in two time points (40 min. and 60 min. after addition of biotin). This indicates that the lower rate of secretion is not compensated immediately. Even though, there has to be considered, that there might occur compensation of this delay in later time-points. This has to be analysed in further experiments including later time points.

6.3. Outlook and open questions

Several open questions that deserve additional research remain.

MS-analysis as presented in this thesis could be used for more comprehensive data in additional cell lines, to determine if the secretome of SCN subtypes is genotypedependent in neutrophils from patients as well. To enhance the statistical read-out of secretome studies, it would be essential to use more cells and analyse a third clone in further experiments. Even though this work suggests that the effects of JAGN1 are quite specific and not global, this hypothesis should be tested in greater detail. For example, the kinetics of other granule proteins, such as MPO, BPI or cathepsin D could be monitored using the RUSH-system. This would answer the question, if the delay of lysozyme C rich vesicle formation is a protein specific phenotype of JAGN1 deficiency. Similar methods than the RUSH-system might also be useful to analyse trafficking defects in other diseases, such as VPS45 deficiency, LAMTOR2 deficiency, Chediak-Higashi-syndrome or Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome type 2.

It remains currently unclear whether the observed phenotype in HeLa cells is a cell-type specific delay in vesicular transport or is causative for JAGN1 deficiency. Therefore, the RUSH system might be adapted for neutrophils.

Further biochemical analysis might shed light in the unknown mechanisms of secretion and solve open questions. For example, there exists no data how exactly the protein JAGN1 is participating in the secretory pathway in neutrophils. Another aspect of interest is how the regulated secretory pathway is orchestrated in neutrophils. This mechanism is poorly understood and definitely needs more investigation.

Additionally, many biochemical aspects of NET formation are not completely understood. The observed lower abundance of histones in the absence of JAGN1 could possibly discover JAGN1 as a new component in this complex machinery. But it clearly needs further analysis, which might be challenging.

Analysis of further patients with mutations in *JAGN1* is necessary to fully explained how JAGN1 participates in the differentiation, maintenance and decay of neutrophils.

Taken together, this thesis has made use of novel technologies (iPS-derived neutrophil granulocytes, Crispr/Cas9 gene editing, RUSH system) to study the role of JAGN1 in the secretory pathway of neutrophil granulocytes. We could document that JAGN1 orchestrates the secretion of specific proteins, in particular lysozyme C. The details of the molecular mechanisms deserve further scientific experiments.

7. References

Afzal, W., M. B. Owlia, S. Hasni and K. A. Newman (2017). "Autoimmune Neutropenia Updates: Etiology, Pathology, and Treatment." <u>South Med J</u> **110**(4): 300-307.

Ammann, S., A. Schulz, I. Krageloh-Mann, N. M. Dieckmann, K. Niethammer, S. Fuchs, K. M. Eckl, R. Plank, R. Werner, J. Altmuller, H. Thiele, P. Nurnberg, J. Bank, A. Strauss, H. von Bernuth, U. Zur Stadt, S. Grieve, G. M. Griffiths, K. Lehmberg, H. C. Hennies and S. Ehl (2016). "Mutations in AP₃D₁ associated with immunodeficiency and seizures define a new type of Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome." <u>Blood</u> 127(8): 997-1006.

Amulic, B., C. Cazalet, G. L. Hayes, K. D. Metzler and A. Zychlinsky (2012). "Neutrophil function: from mechanisms to disease." <u>Annu Rev Immunol</u> **30**: 459-489.

Arnljots, K., O. Sorensen, K. Lollike and N. Borregaard (1998). "Timing, targeting and sorting of azurophil granule proteins in human myeloid cells." <u>Leukemia</u> **12**(11): 1789-1795.

Bainton, D. F. and M. G. Farquhar (1966). "Origin of granules in polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Two types derived from opposite faces of the Golgi complex in developing granulocytes." <u>J Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> **28**(2): 277-301.

Bainton, D. F., J. L. Ullyot and M. G. Farquhar (1971). "The development of neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocytes in human bone marrow." J Exp Med **134**(4): 907-934.

Banka, S., R. Wynn, H. Byers, P. D. Arkwright and W. G. Newman (2013). "G6PC3 mutations cause non-syndromic severe congenital neutropenia." <u>Mol Genet Metab</u> **108**(2): 138-141.

Baris, S., E. Karakoc-Aydiner, A. Ozen, K. Delil, A. Kiykim, I. Ogulur, I. Baris and I. B. Barlan (2015). "JAGN1-deficient Severe Congenital Neutropenia: Two Cases from the Same Family." J Clin Immunol **35**(4): 339-343.

Bettayeb, K., B. V. Hooli, A. R. Parrado, L. Randolph, D. Varotsis, S. Aryal, J. Gresack, R. E. Tanzi, P. Greengard and M. Flajolet (2016). "Relevance of the COPI complex for Alzheimer's disease progression in vivo." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **113**(19): 5418-5423.

Blank, B. and J. von Blume (2017). "Cab45-Unraveling key features of a novel secretory cargo sorter at the trans-Golgi network." <u>Eur J Cell Biol</u> **96**(5): 383-390.

Bohn, G., A. Allroth, G. Brandes, J. Thiel, E. Glocker, A. A. Schaffer, C. Rathinam, N. Taub, D. Teis, C. Zeidler, R. A. Dewey, R. Geffers, J. Buer, L. A. Huber, K. Welte, B. Grimbacher and C. Klein (2007). "A novel human primary immunodeficiency syndrome caused by deficiency of the endosomal adaptor protein p14." <u>Nat Med</u> **13**(1): 38-45.

Boncompain, G. and F. Perez (2012). "Synchronizing protein transport in the secretory pathway." <u>Curr Protoc Cell Biol</u> Chapter 15: Unit 15 19.

Bonilla, M. A., A. P. Gillio, M. Ruggeiro, N. A. Kernan, J. A. Brochstein, M. Abboud, L. Fumagalli, M. Vincent, J. L. Gabrilove, K. Welte and et al. (1989). "Effects of recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor on neutropenia in patients with congenital agranulocytosis." <u>N Engl J</u> <u>Med</u> **320**(24): 1574-1580. Borregaard, N. (2010). "Neutrophils, from marrow to microbes." <u>Immunity</u> **33**(5): 657-670.

Borregaard, N. and J. B. Cowland (1997). "Granules of the human neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocyte." <u>Blood</u> **89**(10): 3503-3521.

Borregaard, N., O. E. Sorensen and K. Theilgaard-Monch (2007). "Neutrophil granules: a library of innate immunity proteins." <u>Trends Immunol</u> **28**(8): 340-345.

Boztug, K., P. M. Jarvinen, E. Salzer, T. Racek, S. Monch, W. Garncarz, E. M. Gertz, A. A. Schaffer, A. Antonopoulos, S. M. Haslam, L. Schieck, J. Puchalka, J. Diestelhorst, G. Appaswamy, B. Lescoeur, R. Giambruno, J. W. Bigenzahn, U. Elling, D. Pfeifer, C. D. Conde, M. H. Albert, K. Welte, G. Brandes, R. Sherkat, J. van der Werff Ten Bosch, N. Rezaei, A. Etzioni, C. Bellanne-Chantelot, G. Superti-Furga, J. M. Penninger, K. L. Bennett, J. von Blume, A. Dell, J. Donadieu and C. Klein (2014). "JAGN1 deficiency causes aberrant myeloid cell homeostasis and congenital neutropenia." <u>Nat Genet</u> 46(9): 1021-1027.

Boztug, K., P. S. Rosenberg, M. Dorda, S. Banka, T. Moulton, J. Curtin, N. Rezaei, J. Corns, J. W. Innis, Z. Avci, H. C. Tran, I. Pellier, P. Pierani, R. Fruge, N. Parvaneh, S. Mamishi, R. Mody, P. Darbyshire, J. Motwani, J. Murray, G. R. Buchanan, W. G. Newman, B. P. Alter, L. A. Boxer, J. Donadieu, K. Welte and C. Klein (2012). "Extended spectrum of human glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunit 3 deficiency: novel genotypes and phenotypic variability in severe congenital neutropenia." J Pediatr 160(4): 679-683 e672.

Braulke, T. and J. S. Bonifacino (2009). "Sorting of lysosomal proteins." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1793**(4): 605-614.

Brinkmann, V., U. Reichard, C. Goosmann, B. Fauler, Y. Uhlemann, D. S. Weiss, Y. Weinrauch and A. Zychlinsky (2004). "Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria." <u>Science</u> **303**(5663): 1532-1535.

Brinkmann, V. and A. Zychlinsky (2007). "Beneficial suicide: why neutrophils die to make NETs." <u>Nat Rev Microbiol</u> **5**(8): 577-582.

Bu, H. F., X. Wang, Y. Q. Zhu, R. Y. Williams, W. Hsueh, X. Zheng, R. A. Rozenfeld, X. L. Zuo and X. D. Tan (2006). "Lysozyme-modified probiotic components protect rats against polymicrobial sepsis: role of macrophages and cathelicidin-related innate immunity." J Immunol 177(12): 8767-8776.

Bulow, E., W. M. Nauseef, M. Goedken, S. McCormick, J. Calafat, U. Gullberg and I. Olsson (2002). "Sorting for storage in myeloid cells of nonmyeloid proteins and chimeras with the propeptide of myeloperoxidase precursor." J Leukoc Biol 71(2): 279-288.

Callewaert, L. and C. W. Michiels (2010). "Lysozymes in the animal kingdom." J Biosci **35**(1): 127-160.

Canuel, M., A. Korkidakis, K. Konnyu and C. R. Morales (2008). "Sortilin mediates the lysosomal targeting of cathepsins D and H." <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **373**(2): 292-297.

Capiod, T. (2011). "Cell proliferation, calcium influx and calcium channels." <u>Biochimie</u> **93**(12): 2075-2079.

Cicchetti, G., P. G. Allen and M. Glogauer (2002). "Chemotactic signaling pathways in neutrophils: from receptor to actin assembly." <u>Crit Rev Oral Biol Med</u> **13**(3): 220-228.

Cifaldi, C., J. Serafinelli, D. Petricone, I. Brigida, S. Di Cesare, G. Di Matteo, M. Chiriaco, R. De Vito, G. Palumbo, P. Rossi, P. Palma, C. Cancrini, A. Aiuti and A. Finocchi (2018). "Next-Generation Sequencing Reveals A JAGN1 Mutation in a Syndromic Child With Intermittent Neutropenia." J Pediatr Hematol Oncol.

Cong, L., F. A. Ran, D. Cox, S. Lin, R. Barretto, N. Habib, P. D. Hsu, X. Wu, W. Jiang, L. A. Marraffini and F. Zhang (2013). "Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems." <u>Science</u> **339**(6121): 819-823.

Conus, S., R. Perozzo, T. Reinheckel, C. Peters, L. Scapozza, S. Yousefi and H. U. Simon (2008). "Caspase-8 is activated by cathepsin D initiating neutrophil apoptosis during the resolution of inflammation." J Exp Med 205(3): 685-698.

Conus, S., C. Pop, S. J. Snipas, G. S. Salvesen and H. U. Simon (2012). "Cathepsin D primes caspase-8 activation by multiple intra-chain proteolysis." J Biol Chem 287(25): 21142-21151.

Cowland, J. B. and N. Borregaard (1999). "The individual regulation of granule protein mRNA levels during neutrophil maturation explains the heterogeneity of neutrophil granules." <u>J Leukoc Biol</u> **66**(6): 989-995.

Cowland, J. B. and N. Borregaard (2016). "Granulopoiesis and granules of human neutrophils." Immunol Rev 273(1): 11-28.

Cox, J., M. Y. Hein, C. A. Luber, I. Paron, N. Nagaraj and M. Mann (2014). "Accurate proteomewide label-free quantification by delayed normalization and maximal peptide ratio extraction, termed MaxLFQ." <u>Mol Cell Proteomics</u> 13(9): 2513-2526.

Cox, J. and M. Mann (2008). "MaxQuant enables high peptide identification rates, individualized p.p.b.-range mass accuracies and proteome-wide protein quantification." <u>Nat Biotechnol</u> **26**(12): 1367-1372.

Dahl, R., J. C. Walsh, D. Lancki, P. Laslo, S. R. Iyer, H. Singh and M. C. Simon (2003). "Regulation of macrophage and neutrophil cell fates by the PU.1:C/EBPalpha ratio and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **4**(10): 1029-1036.

Dale, D. C. and A. A. Bolyard (2017). "An update on the diagnosis and treatment of chronic idiopathic neutropenia." <u>Curr Opin Hematol</u> 24(1): 46-53.

Dell'Angelica, E. C., V. Shotelersuk, R. C. Aguilar, W. A. Gahl and J. S. Bonifacino (1999). "Altered trafficking of lysosomal proteins in Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome due to mutations in the beta 3A subunit of the AP-3 adaptor." <u>Mol Cell</u> **3**(1): 11-21.

Deng, Y., M. Pakdel, B. Blank, E. L. Sundberg, C. G. Burd and J. von Blume (2018). "Activity of the SPCA1 Calcium Pump Couples Sphingomyelin Synthesis to Sorting of Secretory Proteins in the Trans-Golgi Network." <u>Dev Cell</u>.

Dodonova, S. O., P. Diestelkoetter-Bachert, A. von Appen, W. J. Hagen, R. Beck, M. Beck, F. Wieland and J. A. Briggs (2015). "VESICULAR TRANSPORT. A structure of the COPI coat and the role of coat proteins in membrane vesicle assembly." <u>Science</u> **349**(6244): 195-198.

Donadieu, J., B. Beaupain, O. Fenneteau and C. Bellanne-Chantelot (2017). "Congenital neutropenia in the era of genomics: classification, diagnosis, and natural history." <u>Br J Haematol</u> **179**(4): 557-574.

Donadieu, J., O. Fenneteau, B. Beaupain, S. Beaufils, F. Bellanger, N. Mahlaoui, A. Lambilliotte, N. Aladjidi, Y. Bertrand, V. Mialou, C. Perot, G. Michel, F. Fouyssac, C. Paillard, V. Gandemer, P. Boutard, J. Schmitz, A. Morali, T. Leblanc, C. Bellanne-Chantelot and R. Associated investigators of the French Severe Chronic Neutropenia (2012). "Classification of and risk factors for hematologic complications in a French national cohort of 102 patients with Shwachman-Diamond syndrome." <u>Haematologica</u> 97(9): 1312-1319.

Duden, R. (2003). "ER-to-Golgi transport: COP I and COP II function (Review)." <u>Mol Membr Biol</u> 20(3): 197-207.

Faurschou, M., O. E. Sorensen, A. H. Johnsen, J. Askaa and N. Borregaard (2002). "Defensin-rich granules of human neutrophils: characterization of secretory properties." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1591**(1-3): 29-35.

Fioredda, F., S. Iacobelli, A. van Biezen, B. Gaspar, P. Ancliff, J. Donadieu, M. Aljurf, C. Peters, M. Calvillo, S. Matthes-Martin, G. Morreale, N. van 't Veer-Tazelaar, L. de Wreede, A. Al Seraihy, A. Yesilipek, A. Fischer, M. Bierings, G. Ozturk, O. Smith, P. Veys, P. Ljungman, R. Peffault de Latour, J. Sanchez de Toledo Codina, R. Or, A. Ganser, B. Afanasyev, R. Wynn, K. Kalwak, J. Marsh, C. Dufour, E. Severe Aplastic Anemia the Inborn, B. the Pediatric Disease Working Parties of the European Society for, T. Bone Marrow and E. Stem Cell Transplant for Immunodeficiencies in (2015). "Stem cell transplantation in severe congenital neutropenia: an analysis from the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation." <u>Blood</u> **126**(16): 1885-1892; quiz 1970.

Foxman, E. F., J. J. Campbell and E. C. Butcher (1997). "Multistep navigation and the combinatorial control of leukocyte chemotaxis." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **139**(5): 1349-1360.

Fuchs, T. A., U. Abed, C. Goosmann, R. Hurwitz, I. Schulze, V. Wahn, Y. Weinrauch, V. Brinkmann and A. Zychlinsky (2007). "Novel cell death program leads to neutrophil extracellular traps." J Cell Biol 176(2): 231-241.

Funamoto, S., R. Meili, S. Lee, L. Parry and R. A. Firtel (2002). "Spatial and temporal regulation of 3-phosphoinositides by PI 3-kinase and PTEN mediates chemotaxis." <u>Cell</u> **109**(5): 611-623.

Galli, S. J., N. Borregaard and T. A. Wynn (2011). "Phenotypic and functional plasticity of cells of innate immunity: macrophages, mast cells and neutrophils." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **12**(11): 1035-1044.

Ganz, T., M. E. Selsted, D. Szklarek, S. S. Harwig, K. Daher, D. F. Bainton and R. I. Lehrer (1985). "Defensins. Natural peptide antibiotics of human neutrophils." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **76**(4): 1427-1435.

Gatti, S., K. Boztug, A. Pedini, C. Pasqualini, V. Albano, C. Klein and P. Pierani (2011). "A case of syndromic neutropenia and mutation in G6PC3." J Pediatr Hematol Oncol **33**(2): 138-140.

Geissler, S., M. Textor, S. Stumpp, S. Seitz, A. Lekaj, S. Brunk, S. Klaassen, T. Schinke, C. Klein, S. Mundlos, U. Kornak and J. Kuhnisch (2018). "Loss of murine Gfi1 causes neutropenia and induces osteoporosis depending on the pathogen load and systemic inflammation." <u>PLoS One</u> 13(6): e0198510.

Glenthoj, A., J. B. Cowland, N. H. Heegaard, M. T. Larsen and N. Borregaard (2011). "Serglycin participates in retention of alpha-defensin in granules during myelopoiesis." <u>Blood</u> **118**(16): 4440-4448.

Gombart, A. F. and H. P. Koeffler (2002). "Neutrophil specific granule deficiency and mutations in the gene encoding transcription factor C/EBP(epsilon)." <u>Curr Opin Hematol</u> **9**(1): 36-42.

Gonzalez, A., M. Valeiras, E. Sidransky and N. Tayebi (2014). "Lysosomal integral membrane protein-2: a new player in lysosome-related pathology." <u>Mol Genet Metab</u> **111**(2): 84-91.

Guo, Y., D. W. Sirkis and R. Schekman (2014). "Protein sorting at the trans-Golgi network." <u>Annu</u> <u>Rev Cell Dev Biol</u> **30**: 169-206.

Hager, M., J. B. Cowland and N. Borregaard (2010). "Neutrophil granules in health and disease." J Intern Med **268**(1): 25-34.

Hamada, H., M. Suzuki, S. Yuasa, N. Mimura, N. Shinozuka, Y. Takada, M. Suzuki, T. Nishino, H. Nakaya, H. Koseki and T. Aoe (2004). "Dilated cardiomyopathy caused by aberrant endoplasmic reticulum quality control in mutant KDEL receptor transgenic mice." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 24(18): 8007-8017.

Hang, I., C. W. Lin, O. C. Grant, S. Fleurkens, T. K. Villiger, M. Soos, M. Morbidelli, R. J. Woods, R. Gauss and M. Aebi (2015). "Analysis of site-specific N-glycan remodeling in the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi." <u>Glycobiology</u> **25**(12): 1335-1349.

Hauck, F. and C. Klein (2013). "Pathogenic mechanisms and clinical implications of congenital neutropenia syndromes." <u>Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol</u> **13**(6): 596-606.

Heit, B., S. M. Robbins, C. M. Downey, Z. Guan, P. Colarusso, B. J. Miller, F. R. Jirik and P. Kubes (2008). "PTEN functions to 'prioritize' chemotactic cues and prevent 'distraction' in migrating neutrophils." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **9**(7): 743-752.

Hirsch, J. G. (1958). "Bactericidal action of histone." J Exp Med 108(6): 925-944.

Hsu, P. D., D. A. Scott, J. A. Weinstein, F. A. Ran, S. Konermann, V. Agarwala, Y. Li, E. J. Fine, X. Wu, O. Shalem, T. J. Cradick, L. A. Marraffini, G. Bao and F. Zhang (2013). "DNA targeting specificity of RNA-guided Cas9 nucleases." <u>Nat Biotechnol</u> **31**(9): 827-832.

Izumi, K., M. Brett, E. Nishi, S. Drunat, E. S. Tan, K. Fujiki, S. Lebon, B. Cham, K. Masuda, M. Arakawa, A. Jacquinet, Y. Yamazumi, S. T. Chen, A. Verloes, Y. Okada, Y. Katou, T. Nakamura, T. Akiyama, P. Gressens, R. Foo, S. Passemard, E. C. Tan, V. El Ghouzzi and K. Shirahige (2016). "ARCN1 Mutations Cause a Recognizable Craniofacial Syndrome Due to COPI-Mediated Transport Defects." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **99**(2): 451-459. Johnson, J. L., J. He, M. Ramadass, K. Pestonjamasp, W. B. Kiosses, J. Zhang and S. D. Catz (2016). "Munc13-4 Is a Rab11-binding Protein That Regulates Rab11-positive Vesicle Trafficking and Docking at the Plasma Membrane." J Biol Chem **291**(7): 3423-3438.

Jung, J., G. Bohn, A. Allroth, K. Boztug, G. Brandes, I. Sandrock, A. A. Schaffer, C. Rathinam, I. Kollner, C. Beger, R. Schilke, K. Welte, B. Grimbacher and C. Klein (2006). "Identification of a homozygous deletion in the AP₃B₁ gene causing Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome, type 2." <u>Blood</u> **108**(1): 362-369.

Karim, M. A., K. Suzuki, K. Fukai, J. Oh, D. L. Nagle, K. J. Moore, E. Barbosa, T. Falik-Borenstein, A. Filipovich, Y. Ishida, S. Kivrikko, C. Klein, F. Kreuz, A. Levin, H. Miyajima, J. R. Regueiro, C. Russo, E. Uyama, O. Vierimaa and R. A. Spritz (2002). "Apparent genotype-phenotype correlation in childhood, adolescent, and adult Chediak-Higashi syndrome." <u>Am J Med Genet</u> **108**(1): 16-22.

Kaufman, R. J., D. Scheuner, M. Schroder, X. Shen, K. Lee, C. Y. Liu and S. M. Arnold (2002). "The unfolded protein response in nutrient sensing and differentiation." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **3**(6): 411-421.

Khandagale, A., B. Lazzaretto, G. Carlsson, M. Sundin, S. Shafeeq, U. Romling and B. Fadeel (2018). "JAGN1 is required for fungal killing in neutrophil extracellular traps: Implications for severe congenital neutropenia." <u>J Leukoc Biol</u>.

Kjeldsen, L., D. F. Bainton, H. Sengelov and N. Borregaard (1993). "Structural and functional heterogeneity among peroxidase-negative granules in human neutrophils: identification of a distinct gelatinase-containing granule subset by combined immunocytochemistry and subcellular fractionation." <u>Blood</u> **8**2(10): 3183-3191.

Kjeldsen, L., J. Calafat and N. Borregaard (1998). "Giant granules of neutrophils in Chediak-Higashi syndrome are derived from azurophil granules but not from specific and gelatinase granules." J Leukoc Biol **64**(1): 72-77.

Klein, C. (2011). "Genetic defects in severe congenital neutropenia: emerging insights into life and death of human neutrophil granulocytes." <u>Annu Rev Immunol</u> **29**: 399-413.

Klein, C. (2016). "Children with rare diseases of neutrophil granulocytes: from therapeutic orphans to pioneers of individualized medicine." <u>Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program</u> **2016**(1): 33-37.

Klein, C. (2017). "Kostmann's Disease and HCLS1-Associated Protein X-1 (HAX1)." <u>J Clin Immunol</u> **37**(2): 117-122.

Klein, C., M. Grudzien, G. Appaswamy, M. Germeshausen, I. Sandrock, A. A. Schaffer, C. Rathinam, K. Boztug, B. Schwinzer, N. Rezaei, G. Bohn, M. Melin, G. Carlsson, B. Fadeel, N. Dahl, J. Palmblad, J. I. Henter, C. Zeidler, B. Grimbacher and K. Welte (2007). "HAX1 deficiency causes autosomal recessive severe congenital neutropenia (Kostmann disease)." <u>Nat Genet</u> **39**(1): 86-92.

Klein, C., N. Philippe, F. Le Deist, S. Fraitag, C. Prost, A. Durandy, A. Fischer and C. Griscelli (1994). "Partial albinism with immunodeficiency (Griscelli syndrome)." <u>J Pediatr</u> 125(6 Pt 1): 886-895.

Kolaczkowska, E., W. Grzybek, N. van Rooijen, H. Piccard, B. Plytycz, B. Arnold and G. Opdenakker (2009). "Neutrophil elastase activity compensates for a genetic lack of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) in leukocyte infiltration in a model of experimental peritonitis." J <u>Leukoc Biol</u> **85**(3): 374-381.

Kolaczkowska, E. and P. Kubes (2013). "Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **13**(3): 159-175.

Kondylis, V., Y. Tang, F. Fuchs, M. Boutros and C. Rabouille (2011). "Identification of ER proteins involved in the functional organisation of the early secretory pathway in Drosophila cells by a targeted RNAi screen." <u>PLoS One</u> 6(2): e17173.

Kornfeld, S. and I. Mellman (1989). "The biogenesis of lysosomes." <u>Annu Rev Cell Biol</u> 5: 483-525.

Koster, A., P. Saftig, U. Matzner, K. von Figura, C. Peters and R. Pohlmann (1993). "Targeted disruption of the M(r) 46,000 mannose 6-phosphate receptor gene in mice results in misrouting of lysosomal proteins." <u>EMBO J</u> 12(13): 5219-5223.

Kostmann, R. (1956). "Infantile genetic agranulocytosis; agranulocytosis infantilis hereditaria." <u>Acta Paediatr Suppl</u> **45**(Suppl 105): 1-78.

Kuhns, D. B., W. G. Alvord, T. Heller, J. J. Feld, K. M. Pike, B. E. Marciano, G. Uzel, S. S. DeRavin, D. A. Priel, B. P. Soule, K. A. Zarember, H. L. Malech, S. M. Holland and J. I. Gallin (2010). "Residual NADPH oxidase and survival in chronic granulomatous disease." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **363**(27): 2600-2610.

Le Cabec, V., J. Calafat and N. Borregaard (1997). "Sorting of the specific granule protein, NGAL, during granulocytic maturation of HL-60 cells." <u>Blood</u> **89**(6): 2113-2121.

Lee, S. and L. Cooley (2007). "Jagunal is required for reorganizing the endoplasmic reticulum during Drosophila oogenesis." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **176**(7): 941-952.

Lee, W. L., R. E. Harrison and S. Grinstein (2003). "Phagocytosis by neutrophils." <u>Microbes Infect</u> 5(14): 1299-1306.

Leiding, J. W. (2017). "Neutrophil Evolution and Their Diseases in Humans." <u>Front Immunol</u> 8: 1009.

Leiding, J. W. and S. M. Holland (1993). Chronic Granulomatous Disease. <u>GeneReviews((R))</u>. M. P. Adam, H. H. Ardinger, R. A. Pagon et al. Seattle (WA).

Ley, K., C. Laudanna, M. I. Cybulsky and S. Nourshargh (2007). "Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> 7(9): 678-689.

Ley, K., E. Smith and M. A. Stark (2006). "IL-17A-producing neutrophil-regulatory Tn lymphocytes." Immunol Res **34**(3): 229-242.

Lieschke, G. J., D. Grail, G. Hodgson, D. Metcalf, E. Stanley, C. Cheers, K. J. Fowler, S. Basu, Y. F. Zhan and A. R. Dunn (1994). "Mice lacking granulocyte colony-stimulating factor have chronic

neutropenia, granulocyte and macrophage progenitor cell deficiency, and impaired neutrophil mobilization." <u>Blood</u> **8**₄(6): 1737-1746.

Link, D. C. (2018). "Mechanisms of leukemic transformation in congenital neutropenia." <u>Curr Opin</u> <u>Hematol</u>.

Lomax, K. J., J. I. Gallin, D. Rotrosen, G. D. Raphael, M. A. Kaliner, E. J. Benz, Jr., L. A. Boxer and H. L. Malech (1989). "Selective defect in myeloid cell lactoferrin gene expression in neutrophil specific granule deficiency." J Clin Invest 83(2): 514-519.

Ludwig, T., C. E. Ovitt, U. Bauer, M. Hollinshead, J. Remmler, P. Lobel, U. Ruther and B. Hoflack (1993). "Targeted disruption of the mouse cation-dependent mannose 6-phosphate receptor results in partial missorting of multiple lysosomal enzymes." <u>EMBO J</u> 12(13): 5225-5235.

Ma, Y. and L. M. Hendershot (2001). "The unfolding tale of the unfolded protein response." <u>Cell</u> **107**(7): 827-830.

Markart, P., T. R. Korfhagen, T. E. Weaver and H. T. Akinbi (2004). "Mouse lysozyme M is important in pulmonary host defense against Klebsiella pneumoniae infection." <u>Am J Respir Crit</u> <u>Care Med</u> **169**(4): 454-458.

Massaad, M. J., N. Ramesh and R. S. Geha (2013). "Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome: a comprehensive review." <u>Ann N Y Acad Sci</u> **1285**: 26-43.

Massena, S., G. Christoffersson, E. Hjertstrom, E. Zcharia, I. Vlodavsky, N. Ausmees, C. Rolny, J. P. Li and M. Phillipson (2010). "A chemotactic gradient sequestered on endothelial heparan sulfate induces directional intraluminal crawling of neutrophils." <u>Blood</u> **116**(11): 1924-1931.

Matsunaga, K., M. Taoka, T. Isobe and T. Izumi (2017). "Rab2a and Rab27a cooperatively regulate the transition from granule maturation to exocytosis through the dual effector Noc2." J Cell Sci **130**(3): 541-550.

McCormick, P. J., M. Segarra, P. Gasperini, A. V. Gulino and G. Tosato (2009). "Impaired recruitment of Grk6 and beta-Arrestin 2 causes delayed internalization and desensitization of a WHIM syndrome-associated CXCR4 mutant receptor." <u>PLoS One</u> **4**(12): e8102.

Meerschaut, I., V. Bordon, C. Dhooge, P. Delbeke, A. V. Vanlander, A. Simon, C. Klein, R. F. Kooy, R. Somech and B. Callewaert (2015). "Severe congenital neutropenia with neurological impairment due to a homozygous VPS45 p.E238K mutation: A case report suggesting a genotype-phenotype correlation." <u>Am J Med Genet A</u> 167A(12): 3214-3218.

Mestas, J. and C. C. Hughes (2004). "Of mice and not men: differences between mouse and human immunology." J Immunol 172(5): 2731-2738.

Metzler, K. D., T. A. Fuchs, W. M. Nauseef, D. Reumaux, J. Roesler, I. Schulze, V. Wahn, V. Papayannopoulos and A. Zychlinsky (2011). "Myeloperoxidase is required for neutrophil extracellular trap formation: implications for innate immunity." <u>Blood</u> 117(3): 953-959.

Metzler, K. D., C. Goosmann, A. Lubojemska, A. Zychlinsky and V. Papayannopoulos (2014). "A myeloperoxidase-containing complex regulates neutrophil elastase release and actin dynamics during NETosis." <u>Cell Rep</u> **8**(3): 883-896.

Moon, H. W., H. G. Han and Y. J. Jeon (2018). "Protein Quality Control in the Endoplasmic Reticulum and Cancer." Int J Mol Sci 19(10).

Munafo, D. B., J. L. Johnson, B. A. Ellis, S. Rutschmann, B. Beutler and S. D. Catz (2007). "Rab27a is a key component of the secretory machinery of azurophilic granules in granulocytes." <u>Biochem J</u> **402**(2): 229-239.

Myers, K. C., S. M. Davies and A. Shimamura (2013). "Clinical and molecular pathophysiology of Shwachman-Diamond syndrome: an update." <u>Hematol Oncol Clin North Am</u> 27(1): 117-128, ix.

Nagaraj, N., N. A. Kulak, J. Cox, N. Neuhauser, K. Mayr, O. Hoerning, O. Vorm and M. Mann (2012). "System-wide perturbation analysis with nearly complete coverage of the yeast proteome by single-shot ultra HPLC runs on a bench top Orbitrap." <u>Mol Cell Proteomics</u> 11(3): M111 013722.

Nash, J. A., T. N. Ballard, T. E. Weaver and H. T. Akinbi (2006). "The peptidoglycan-degrading property of lysozyme is not required for bactericidal activity in vivo." J Immunol 177(1): 519-526.

Nerlov, C. and T. Graf (1998). "PU.1 induces myeloid lineage commitment in multipotent hematopoietic progenitors." <u>Genes Dev</u> 12(15): 2403-2412.

Niemann, C. U., M. Abrink, G. Pejler, R. L. Fischer, E. I. Christensen, S. D. Knight and N. Borregaard (2007). "Neutrophil elastase depends on serglycin proteoglycan for localization in granules." <u>Blood</u> **109**(10): 4478-4486.

Nosak, C., P. N. Silva, P. Sollazzo, K. M. Moon, T. Odisho, L. J. Foster, J. V. Rocheleau and A. Volchuk (2016). "Jagni Is Induced in Response to ER Stress and Regulates Proinsulin Biosynthesis." <u>PLoS One</u> **11**(2): e0149177.

Ohtsubo, K. and J. D. Marth (2006). "Glycosylation in cellular mechanisms of health and disease." <u>Cell</u> **126**(5): 855-867.

Olsen, J. V., B. Macek, O. Lange, A. Makarov, S. Horning and M. Mann (2007). "Higher-energy C-trap dissociation for peptide modification analysis." <u>Nat Methods</u> **4**(9): 709-712.

Olsson, I., E. Bulow and M. Hansson (2004). "Biosynthesis and sorting of myeloperoxidase in hematopoietic cells." Jpn J Infect Dis 57(5): S13-14.

Ostrowski, M., N. B. Carmo, S. Krumeich, I. Fanget, G. Raposo, A. Savina, C. F. Moita, K. Schauer, A. N. Hume, R. P. Freitas, B. Goud, P. Benaroch, N. Hacohen, M. Fukuda, C. Desnos, M. C. Seabra, F. Darchen, S. Amigorena, L. F. Moita and C. Thery (2010). "Rab27a and Rab27b control different steps of the exosome secretion pathway." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **12**(1): 19-30; sup pp 11-13.

Owji, H., N. Nezafat, M. Negahdaripour, A. Hajiebrahimi and Y. Ghasemi (2018). "A comprehensive review of signal peptides: Structure, roles, and applications." <u>Eur J Cell Biol</u> **97**(6): 422-441.

Pakdel, M. and J. von Blume (2018). "Exploring new routes for secretory protein export from the trans-Golgi network." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **29**(3): 235-240.

Palmblad, J. and P. Hoglund (2018). "Ethnic benign neutropenia: A phenomenon finds an explanation." <u>Pediatr Blood Cancer</u> **65**(12): e27361.

Papayannopoulos, V., K. D. Metzler, A. Hakkim and A. Zychlinsky (2010). "Neutrophil elastase and myeloperoxidase regulate the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps." J Cell Biol **191**(3): 677-691.

Park, C. B., K. S. Yi, K. Matsuzaki, M. S. Kim and S. C. Kim (2000). "Structure-activity analysis of buforin II, a histone H2A-derived antimicrobial peptide: the proline hinge is responsible for the cell-penetrating ability of buforin II." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 97(15): 8245-8250.

Parsons, S. A., R. Sharma, D. L. Roccamatisi, H. Zhang, B. Petri, P. Kubes, P. Colarusso and K. D. Patel (2012). "Endothelial paxillin and focal adhesion kinase (FAK) play a critical role in neutrophil transmigration." <u>Eur J Immunol</u> **42**(2): 436-446.

Pereira, H. A., W. M. Shafer, J. Pohl, L. E. Martin and J. K. Spitznagel (1990). "CAP37, a human neutrophil-derived chemotactic factor with monocyte specific activity." J Clin Invest **85**(5): 1468-1476.

Perera, N. C., K. H. Wiesmuller, M. T. Larsen, B. Schacher, P. Eickholz, N. Borregaard and D. E. Jenne (2013). "NSP4 is stored in azurophil granules and released by activated neutrophils as active endoprotease with restricted specificity." J Immunol **191**(5): 2700-2707.

Petri, B., M. Phillipson and P. Kubes (2008). "The physiology of leukocyte recruitment: an in vivo perspective." J Immunol **180**(10): 6439-6446.

Phillipson, M., B. Heit, P. Colarusso, L. Liu, C. M. Ballantyne and P. Kubes (2006). "Intraluminal crawling of neutrophils to emigration sites: a molecularly distinct process from adhesion in the recruitment cascade." J Exp Med **203**(12): 2569-2575.

Phillipson, M., J. Kaur, P. Colarusso, C. M. Ballantyne and P. Kubes (2008). "Endothelial domes encapsulate adherent neutrophils and minimize increases in vascular permeability in paracellular and transcellular emigration." <u>PLoS One</u> **3**(2): e1649.

Phillipson, M. and P. Kubes (2011). "The neutrophil in vascular inflammation." <u>Nat Med</u> 17(11): 1381-1390.

Picard, C., H. Bobby Gaspar, W. Al-Herz, A. Bousfiha, J. L. Casanova, T. Chatila, Y. J. Crow, C. Cunningham-Rundles, A. Etzioni, J. L. Franco, S. M. Holland, C. Klein, T. Morio, H. D. Ochs, E. Oksenhendler, J. Puck, M. L. K. Tang, S. G. Tangye, T. R. Torgerson and K. E. Sullivan (2018). "International Union of Immunological Societies: 2017 Primary Immunodeficiency Diseases Committee Report on Inborn Errors of Immunity." J Clin Immunol **38**(1): 96-128.

Pinto, M. C., A. H. Kihara, V. A. Goulart, F. M. Tonelli, K. N. Gomes, H. Ulrich and R. R. Resende (2015). "Calcium signaling and cell proliferation." <u>Cell Signal</u> **27**(11): 2139-2149.
Pittermann, E., N. Lachmann, G. MacLean, S. Emmrich, M. Ackermann, G. Gohring, B. Schlegelberger, K. Welte, A. Schambach, D. Heckl, S. H. Orkin, T. Cantz and J. H. Klusmann (2017). "Gene correction of HAX1 reversed Kostmann disease phenotype in patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells." <u>Blood Adv</u> 1(14): 903-914.

Popoff, V., F. Adolf, B. Brugger and F. Wieland (2011). "COPI budding within the Golgi stack." <u>Cold</u> <u>Spring Harb Perspect Biol</u> **3**(11): a005231.

Ramachandran, V., M. Williams, T. Yago, D. W. Schmidtke and R. P. McEver (2004). "Dynamic alterations of membrane tethers stabilize leukocyte rolling on P-selectin." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S</u> <u>A</u> 101(37): 13519-13524.

Ramadass, M. and S. D. Catz (2016). "Molecular mechanisms regulating secretory organelles and endosomes in neutrophils and their implications for inflammation." <u>Immunol Rev</u> 273(1): 249-265.

Reczek, D., M. Schwake, J. Schroder, H. Hughes, J. Blanz, X. Jin, W. Brondyk, S. Van Patten, T. Edmunds and P. Saftig (2007). "LIMP-2 is a receptor for lysosomal mannose-6-phosphate-independent targeting of beta-glucocerebrosidase." <u>Cell</u> **131**(4): 770-783.

Reich, D., M. A. Nalls, W. H. Kao, E. L. Akylbekova, A. Tandon, N. Patterson, J. Mullikin, W. C. Hsueh, C. Y. Cheng, J. Coresh, E. Boerwinkle, M. Li, A. Waliszewska, J. Neubauer, R. Li, T. S. Leak, L. Ekunwe, J. C. Files, C. L. Hardy, J. M. Zmuda, H. A. Taylor, E. Ziv, T. B. Harris and J. G. Wilson (2009). "Reduced neutrophil count in people of African descent is due to a regulatory variant in the Duffy antigen receptor for chemokines gene." <u>PLoS Genet</u> **5**(1): e1000360.

Rodrigues, J. M., H. D. Fernandes, C. Caruthers, S. R. Braddock and A. P. Knutsen (2018). "Cohen Syndrome: Review of the Literature." <u>Cureus</u> 10(9): e3330.

Sadik, C. D., N. D. Kim and A. D. Luster (2011). "Neutrophils cascading their way to inflammation." <u>Trends Immunol</u> **32**(10): 452-460.

Sanz, M. J. and P. Kubes (2012). "Neutrophil-active chemokines in in vivo imaging of neutrophil trafficking." <u>Eur J Immunol</u> **42**(2): 278-283.

Schaffer, A. A. and C. Klein (2007). "Genetic heterogeneity in severe congenital neutropenia: how many aberrant pathways can kill a neutrophil?" <u>Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol</u> **7**(6): 481-494.

Schmutz, N., E. Henry, J. Jopling and R. D. Christensen (2008). "Expected ranges for blood neutrophil concentrations of neonates: the Manroe and Mouzinho charts revisited." J Perinatol **28**(4): 275-281.

Seifert, W., J. Kuhnisch, T. Maritzen, D. Horn, V. Haucke and H. C. Hennies (2011). "Cohen syndrome-associated protein, COH1, is a novel, giant Golgi matrix protein required for Golgi integrity." J Biol Chem 286(43): 37665-37675.

Shah, R. K., M. Munson, K. J. Wierenga, H. R. Pokala, P. E. Newburger and D. Crawford (2017). "A novel homozygous VPS45 p.P468L mutation leading to severe congenital neutropenia with myelofibrosis." <u>Pediatr Blood Cancer</u> **64**(9).

Skokowa, J. and K. Welte (2007). "LEF-1 is a decisive transcription factor in neutrophil granulopoiesis." <u>Ann N Y Acad Sci</u> **1106**: 143-151.

Sollberger, G., D. O. Tilley and A. Zychlinsky (2018). "Neutrophil Extracellular Traps: The Biology of Chromatin Externalization." <u>Dev Cell</u> 44(5): 542-553.

Stornaiuolo, M., L. V. Lotti, N. Borgese, M. R. Torrisi, G. Mottola, G. Martire and S. Bonatti (2003). "KDEL and KKXX retrieval signals appended to the same reporter protein determine different trafficking between endoplasmic reticulum, intermediate compartment, and Golgi complex." <u>Mol</u> <u>Biol Cell</u> 14(3): 889-902.

Summers, C., S. M. Rankin, A. M. Condliffe, N. Singh, A. M. Peters and E. R. Chilvers (2010). "Neutrophil kinetics in health and disease." <u>Trends Immunol</u> **31**(8): 318-324.

Sundd, P., E. Gutierrez, E. K. Koltsova, Y. Kuwano, S. Fukuda, M. K. Pospieszalska, A. Groisman and K. Ley (2012). "Slings' enable neutrophil rolling at high shear." <u>Nature</u> **488**(7411): 399-403.

Sundd, P., M. K. Pospieszalska, L. S. Cheung, K. Konstantopoulos and K. Ley (2011). "Biomechanics of leukocyte rolling." <u>Biorheology</u> **48**(1): 1-35.

Thaysen-Andersen, M., V. Venkatakrishnan, I. Loke, C. Laurini, S. Diestel, B. L. Parker and N. H. Packer (2015). "Human neutrophils secrete bioactive paucimannosidic proteins from azurophilic granules into pathogen-infected sputum." J Biol Chem 290(14): 8789-8802.

Thieblemont, N., H. L. Wright, S. W. Edwards and V. Witko-Sarsat (2016). "Human neutrophils in auto-immunity." <u>Semin Immunol</u> 28(2): 159-173.

Triot, A., P. M. Jarvinen, J. I. Arostegui, D. Murugan, N. Kohistani, J. L. Dapena Diaz, T. Racek, J. Puchalka, E. M. Gertz, A. A. Schaffer, D. Kotlarz, D. Pfeifer, C. Diaz de Heredia Rubio, M. A. Ozdemir, T. Patiroglu, M. Karakukcu, J. Sanchez de Toledo Codina, J. Yague, I. P. Touw, E. Unal and C. Klein (2014). "Inherited biallelic CSF₃R mutations in severe congenital neutropenia." <u>Blood</u> **123**(24): 3811-3817.

Underhill, D. M. and A. Ozinsky (2002). "Phagocytosis of microbes: complexity in action." <u>Annu</u> <u>Rev Immunol</u> 20: 825-852.

Vagin, O., J. A. Kraut and G. Sachs (2009). "Role of N-glycosylation in trafficking of apical membrane proteins in epithelia." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **296**(3): F459-469.

Vicary, G. W., Y. Vergne, A. Santiago-Cornier, L. R. Young and J. Roman (2016). "Pulmonary Fibrosis in Hermansky-Pudlak Syndrome." <u>Ann Am Thorac Soc</u> **13**(10): 1839-1846.

Vilboux, T., A. Lev, M. C. Malicdan, A. J. Simon, P. Jarvinen, T. Racek, J. Puchalka, R. Sood, B. Carrington, K. Bishop, J. Mullikin, M. Huizing, B. Z. Garty, E. Eyal, B. Wolach, R. Gavrieli, A. Toren, M. Soudack, O. M. Atawneh, T. Babushkin, G. Schiby, A. Cullinane, C. Avivi, S. Polak-Charcon, I. Barshack, N. Amariglio, G. Rechavi, J. van der Werff ten Bosch, Y. Anikster, C. Klein, W. A. Gahl and R. Somech (2013). "A congenital neutrophil defect syndrome associated with mutations in VPS45." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **369**(1): 54-65.

Wakana, Y., J. van Galen, F. Meissner, M. Scarpa, R. S. Polishchuk, M. Mann and V. Malhotra (2012). "A new class of carriers that transport selective cargo from the trans Golgi network to the cell surface." <u>EMBO J</u> **31**(20): 3976-3990.

Watkin, L. B., B. Jessen, W. Wiszniewski, T. J. Vece, M. Jan, Y. Sha, M. Thamsen, R. L. Santos-Cortez, K. Lee, T. Gambin, L. R. Forbes, C. S. Law, A. Stray-Pedersen, M. H. Cheng, E. M. Mace, M. S. Anderson, D. Liu, L. F. Tang, S. K. Nicholas, K. Nahmod, G. Makedonas, D. L. Canter, P. Y. Kwok, J. Hicks, K. D. Jones, S. Penney, S. N. Jhangiani, M. D. Rosenblum, S. D. Dell, M. R. Waterfield, F. R. Papa, D. M. Muzny, N. Zaitlen, S. M. Leal, C. Gonzaga-Jauregui, G. Baylor-Hopkins Center for Mendelian, E. Boerwinkle, N. T. Eissa, R. A. Gibbs, J. R. Lupski, J. S. Orange and A. K. Shum (2015). "COPA mutations impair ER-Golgi transport and cause hereditary autoimmune-mediated lung disease and arthritis." Nat Genet 47(6): 654-660.

Weinberg, E. D. (1975). "Nutritional immunity. Host's attempt to withold iron from microbial invaders." JAMA **231**(1): 39-41.

Winkelstein, J. A., M. C. Marino, R. B. Johnston, Jr., J. Boyle, J. Curnutte, J. I. Gallin, H. L. Malech, S. M. Holland, H. Ochs, P. Quie, R. H. Buckley, C. B. Foster, S. J. Chanock and H. Dickler (2000). "Chronic granulomatous disease. Report on a national registry of 368 patients." <u>Medicine (Baltimore)</u> **79**(3): 155-169.

Wirnsberger, G., F. Zwolanek, J. Stadlmann, L. Tortola, S. W. Liu, T. Perlot, P. Jarvinen, G. Durnberger, I. Kozieradzki, R. Sarao, A. De Martino, K. Boztug, K. Mechtler, K. Kuchler, C. Klein, U. Elling and J. M. Penninger (2014). "Jagunal homolog 1 is a critical regulator of neutrophil function in fungal host defense." <u>Nat Genet</u> **46**(9): 1028-1033.

Woodfin, A., M. B. Voisin, M. Beyrau, B. Colom, D. Caille, F. M. Diapouli, G. B. Nash, T. Chavakis, S. M. Albelda, G. E. Rainger, P. Meda, B. A. Imhof and S. Nourshargh (2011). "The junctional adhesion molecule JAM-C regulates polarized transendothelial migration of neutrophils in vivo." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **12**(8): 761-769.

Yipp, B. G., B. Petri, D. Salina, C. N. Jenne, B. N. V. Scott, L. D. Zbytnuik, K. Pittman, M. Asaduzzaman, K. Wu, H. C. Meijndert, S. E. Malawista, A. de Boisfleury Chevance, K. Zhang, J. Conly and P. Kubes (2012). "Infection-induced NETosis is a dynamic process involving neutrophil multitasking in vivo." <u>Nature Medicine</u> **18**: 1386.

Yu, J. E., J. S. Orange and Y. Y. Demirdag (2018). "New primary immunodeficiency diseases: context and future." <u>Curr Opin Pediatr</u> **30**(6): 806-820.

Zarbock, A., K. Ley, R. P. McEver and A. Hidalgo (2011). "Leukocyte ligands for endothelial selectins: specialized glycoconjugates that mediate rolling and signaling under flow." <u>Blood</u> **118**(26): 6743-6751.

Zeidler, C., L. Boxer, D. C. Dale, M. H. Freedman, S. Kinsey and K. Welte (2000). "Management of Kostmann syndrome in the G-CSF era." <u>Br J Haematol</u> **109**(3): 490-495.

Zeidler, C., K. Welte, Y. Barak, F. Barriga, A. A. Bolyard, L. Boxer, G. Cornu, M. J. Cowan, D. C. Dale, T. Flood, M. Freedman, H. Gadner, H. Mandel, R. J. O'Reilly, U. Ramenghi, A. Reiter, R. Skinner, C. Vermylen and J. E. Levine (2000). "Stem cell transplantation in patients with severe congenital neutropenia without evidence of leukemic transformation." <u>Blood</u> **95**(4): 1195-1198.

Acknowledgements

First, I want to thank Professor Christoph Klein for his guidance, inspiration and supervision. I am very grateful to be part of his lab and to pursue my pediatric training at the LMU Department of Pediatrics.

Second, I want to give thanks to Dr. Julia von Blume, my group leader at the Max-Planck-Institute of biochemistry in Martinsried, for her patience and guidance throughout my project. It was a great pleasure to be part of her ambitious lab.

I am grateful to Prof. Dr. Rheinhard Fässler, head of department of molecular medicine at the Max-Planck-Institute of biochemistry in Martinsried for accepting me in his department and for his inspiring discussions during the Tuesday seminars.

I want to thank Dr. Birgit Blank for her great supervision and patience. Introducing me into the field of biochemistry and helping me out with daily questions was certainly not easy.

Next, I want to say thank you to all the members of the von Blume lab. Without them, my work would have never been imaginable. Mershad Pakdel helped me a lot by adapting the RUSH-system and IF-microscopy but also discussed with me passionately about science and politics. Mai Ly Tran, Tobias Hecht und Natalia Pacheco-Fernandez had always time for my scientific questions and created an inspiring and creative atmosphere with a lot of memorable humour. Renate Gautsch supported me in the cell culture, especially by generating the knockout cell line. Without her help it would have been taken month longer. Gisela Beck was always a helpful assistance for cloning, PCR and daily work. Wolfgang Fink for all the administrative work and preparing SDS gels for me. It was an honour for me to learn professionally but also privately from this team.

The fruit bearing collaboration with the core facility would not have been conceivable without the aid and patience of Nagarunja Nagaraj. Thank you for explaining me at least the superficial mechanisms of mass-spectrometry.

I also want to thank all members of the AG Klein for their helpful discussions and suggestions during the weekly lab meetings. I greatly acknowledge the financial support by the Else-Kröner-Fresenius Stiftung.

Finally, I want to thank my family and my good friends that motivated me through my entire academic career, no matter what topic I was studying.

Special thanks go to Pascale Firholz-Raum and Julian Raum for their perennial patience and daily inspiration.